

University of Huddersfield Repository

Elbakoush, Abdel M.

Modulation of neuroinflammation with the phytoestrogen, formononetin

Original Citation

Elbakoush, Abdel M. (2018) Modulation of neuroinflammation with the phytoestrogen, formononetin. Doctoral thesis, University of Huddersfield.

This version is available at http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/id/eprint/34746/

The University Repository is a digital collection of the research output of the University, available on Open Access. Copyright and Moral Rights for the items on this site are retained by the individual author and/or other copyright owners. Users may access full items free of charge; copies of full text items generally can be reproduced, displayed or performed and given to third parties in any format or medium for personal research or study, educational or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge, provided:

- The authors, title and full bibliographic details is credited in any copy;
- A hyperlink and/or URL is included for the original metadata page; and
- The content is not changed in any way.

For more information, including our policy and submission procedure, please contact the Repository Team at: E.mailbox@hud.ac.uk.

http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/

University of Huddersfield

Modulation of neuroinflammation with the phytoestrogen, formononetin

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abdel Meneim Elbakoush

Department of Pharmacy School of Applied Sciences University of Huddersfield Huddersfield, UK

April 2018

Copyright Statement

- The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/or schedules to this thesis) owns any copyright in it (the "Copyright") and s/he has given The University of Huddersfield the right to use such copyright for any administrative, promotional, educational and/or teaching purposes.
- Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts, may be made only in accordance with the regulations of the University Library. Details of these regulations may be obtained from the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made.
- The ownership of any patents, designs, trademarks and any and all other intellectual property rights except for the Copyright (the "Intellectual Property Rights") and any reproductions of copyright works, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third parties. Such Intellectual Property Rights and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without the prior written permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property Rights and/or Reproductions.

"If the human brain were so simple that we could understand it, we would be so simple that we couldn't."

Emerson M. Pugh

Abstract

Neuroinflammation and pro-inflammatory mediators play key roles in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer disease (AD). Studies have suggested that oestrogen has anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective activities. However, risks of tumour development, heart disease, stroke and blood clots with replacement therapy limit associated oestrogen its application in neurodegenerative disorders. This has switched interest to the use of alternatives such as the selective oestrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) and phytoestrogens which retain the neuroprotective effects of oestrogen with fewer side effects. Formononentin (FMN) is a phytoestrogen which showed significant anti-inflammatory activity through inhibition of nitric oxide (NO) released from lipopolysaccharide-stimulated mouse macrophage RAW cells. However, the ability of formononetin to produce antineuroinflammatory activity in LPS-activated microglia is unknown. In addition, the molecular mechanisms involved in the action of the compound in neuroinflammation is unknown. It is also not clear if the anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects of formononetin are mediated through estrogen receptors. This study has evaluated the effects of formononetin on neuroinflammation in BV2 microglia. Also the roles of ERB activation in the anti-inflammatory activity of formononetin in the microglia was investigated.

BV2 microglia were activated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) with or without formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μM), followed by measurement of TNFα, IL-6, nitrite and PGE₂ levels in culture supernatants. Also, protein levels of iNOS, COX-2, total IkBα, phospho-IkBα, phospho-p65 subunit, phospho-IKKα, phospho-p38, phospho-JNK, phospho-ERK 1/2, phospho-MLK3, phospho-TAK1 and ERβ were detected with immunoblotting. A reporter gene assay was used to evaluate NF-kB and ERβ transcriptional activation in HEK293. Electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA) and DNA binding assays were used to examine the effect of formononetin on DNA binding of NF-kB. HT22 neuronal cells were used to study the neuroprotective activity of formononetin. The role of estrogen receptor in the anti-inflammatory activity of formononetin was investigated with western blotting for ERα and ERβ expression in BV2 microglia The effect of formononetin on transcriptional activity of oestrogenresponse element (ERE) was also investigated. Small interfering RNAs (siRNAs)

٧

targeted at ER β were used to silence ER β geneand levels of TNF α , nitrite and PGE₂ were detected in ER β -silenced BV2 microglia, while immunofluorescence was used to detect NF- κ B p65 subunit.

Results show that formononetin significantly suppressed TNFa, IL-6 and IL-1B without affecting viability of BV2 microglia cells. Furthermore, formononetin inhibited the production of nitrite and PGE₂, and reduced protein levels of COX-2 and iNOS in LPSactivated microglia. In addition, formononetin prevented HTT22 neuronal toxicity produced by microglia-conditioned medium. Formononetin targeted NF- κ B activity by inhibiting the phosphorylation of IKK α , I κ B α and nuclear translocation of the p65 subunit. The compound also suppressed NF- κ B/DNA binding activity in LPS stimulated BV2 microglia. Further results showed that formononetin inhibited p-38, JNK and ERK1/2 MAPKs activation by targeting upstream proteins TAK-1 and MLK3. The study revealed that BV2 microglia express ER β , but not ER α . The study also demonstrated that formononetin increased transcriptional activity of ERE in HEK293 cells. Results further showed that this compound increased protein levels of ER β in BV2 microglia. RNA interference experiments revealed that NF-κB-mediated anti-inflammatory activity of formononetin was abolished following transfection of BV2 microglia with ERB siRNA. Taken together, this study has demonstrated for the first time, that formononetin inhibits neuroinflammation in BV2 microglia and neuroinflammation-mediated neurotoxicity in HT22 mouse hippocampal neurons by targeting upstream convergence proteins in both the NF- κ B and MAPK signalling pathways. This study also established that the ability of the compound to interact with microglial ER β possibly contributes to the anti-inflammatory action of formononetin.

vi

Acknowledgements

My warmest thanks go to my supervisor, Dr Olumayokun Olajide for giving me the opportunity to complete my PhD in his research team and for his teaching, guidance, support, encouragement, advice and patience throughout my PhD programme.

I want to express my gratitude to my research team Uchechukwu Okorji, Ravikanth Velagapudi, Anwer Abudheir,Folashade Ogunrinade and Izabela Lepiarz for their kindness and support during the stressful times.

Finally, I deeply thank my parents, Elmabrouk Elbakoush and Rajaa Elshaffi, and my wife, Najlla, for their support and understanding, their prayers, encouragement and love that made all this work possible.

Contents

Copyright Statementi
Abstractv
Acknowledgementsv
Contents vi
List of Figuresix
List of Tablesx
Abbreviationsxi
Chapter One1
1.1. Background2
1.2. Neuroinflammation
1.3. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease4
1.4 Natural compounds with anti-inflammatory effects
1.5 Phytoestrogens
1.6. Gap in knowledge10
1.6.1. Aim of the study10
1.6.2. Specific objective
Chapter Two11
2.1. Introduction
2.2. The microglia in neuroinflammation12
2.3. Microglial activation13
2.3.1. The role of toll-like receptors (TLRs) in neuroinflammation14
2.4. Roles of pro-inflammatory factors in neuroinflammation
2.4.1. Pro inflammatory cytokines17
2.4.2. Interleukin-6 (IL-6)
2.4.3. Pro-inflammatory enzymes18
2.5. Theme of this chapter18
2.6. Materials and methods20
2.6.1. Materials
2.6.2. Formononetin

2.6.4. Lipopolysaccharide	
2.6.5. Cell culture	
2.6.6. MTT assay for cell viability	
2.6.7. Determination of nitrite production (Griess assay)	
2.6.8. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	
2.6.9. Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) detection enzyme immunoassay (EIA)	27
2.6.10. Cell Lysis and Protein Extraction	
2.6.11. Immunoblotting	
2.6.12. Neurotoxicity of BV2 conditioned medium	
2.6.13. Immunofluorescence	
2.6.14. Statistical Analysis	
2.7. Results	31
2.7.1. Formononetin did not affect BV2 cell viability	
2.7.2. Formononetin reduced the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL	-6 and IL-1β in
BV2 microglia stimulated with LPS	
2.7.3. Formononetin inhibited nitrite production through reduction of iNOS protein ir	LPS-activated
BV2 microglia	
2.7.4. Formononetin reduced PGE ₂ production by reducing levels of COX-2 protein in	າ LPS-
stimulated BV2 microglia	
2.8. Discussion	
Chapter Three	42
3.1. Introduction	43
3.1.1. Nuclear Factor-kappa B	
3.1.2. Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK)	
3.2. Materials and methods	50
3.2.1. Cell culture	
3.2.2. Protein quantitation	
3.2.3. Immunoblotting	
3.2.4. Reporter gene assays	
3.2.5. DNA binding assays	
3.2.6. Immunofluorescence	
3.3. Results	57
3.3.2. Inhibition of MAPKs contributed to inhibition of neuroinflammation by formon	onetin 63
3.3.3. Foromononetin inhibited the activation of TAK1 on LPS stimulated BV2 cell	66
3.4. Discussion	68
Chanter Four	72
	/ 2
4.1. Introduction	73
4.1.1. Oestrogen and neuroinflammation	73
4.1.2. Mechanisms of action of oestrogen	73
4.1.3. Oestrogen and selective oestrogen receptor modulation	76

4.2. Materials and methods78
4.2.1. Cell culture
4.2.2. Preparation of whole cell extracts78
4.2.3. Preparation of nuclear extracts78
4.2.4. Protein quantitation78
4.2.5. Immunoblotting
4.2.6. Reporter gene assays78
4.2.7. Determination of nitrite production (Griess assay)
4.2.8. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for TNF-α detection
4.2.9. Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) detection enzyme immunoassay (EIA)
4.2.10. Immunofluorescence79
4.2.11. ERβ siRNA transfection79
4.3. Results
4.3.1. Effect of formononetin on luciferase-mediated oestrogen-response element activity
4.4. BV2 microglia cells express high levels of ER eta compared to ER $lpha$ 83
4.4.1. Effects of formononetin on ERβ expression in BV2 microglia
4.4.2. Effects of formononetin on nitrite, PGE ₂ and TNF α production in the presence of (ER β) siRNA
in LPS-activated BV2 microglia86
4.4.3. Effects of formononetin in localisation of NF- κ B p65 in the absence of oestrogen receptor
beta (ERβ) in LPS-activated BV2 microglia89
4.5. Discussion
Chapter Five93
5.1. Discussion
5.1. Discussion

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Schematic diagram showing neuroinflammation-mediated neurodegeneration in the
brain4
Figure 1.2 Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease5
Figure 1.3 Molecular structures of the most ubiquitous phytoestrogens7
Figure 1.4 Chemical structure of formononetin9
Figure 1.5 Chemical structure of 17β-Estradiol9
Figure 2.1 Microglia activation phyenotypes14
Figure 2.2 Schematic overview of Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 signalling pathway
Figure 2.3 NMR spectra for formononetin which used in the whole study21
Figure 2.4 LPS concentration to stimulates BV222
Figure 2.5 Cell viability assay for different concentrations of formononetin23
2.6 MTT assay for BV2 cells toxicity with DMSO24
Figure 2.7 The principle of MTT assay, the water-soluble yellow MTT reduced to purple
insoluble formazan can be solubilised in DMSO. (Abe et al., 2000)
Figure 2.8 Principle of the Griess assay26
Figure 2.9 Effect of formononetin on cell viability in LPS-activated BV2 microglia
Figure 2.10 Effect of formononetin on $TNF\alpha$, IL-6 and IL-1ß production in LPS-activated BV2
microglia
Figure 2.11 Effect of formononetin on nitric oxide (NO) and inducible nitric oxide (iNOS)
protein expression in BV2 cells stimulated with LPS
Figure 2.12 Effect of formononetin on PGE_2 production and COX-2 protein levels in BV2
microglia activated with LPS
Figure 2.13 Effects of formononetin on the microglia-mediated neurotoxicity
Figure 3.1 Canonical and noncanonical pathways of NF-KB activation44
Figure 3.2 Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) cascade46
Figure 3.3 Simplified MAPK signaling pathways48
Figure 3.4 Scheme for the mechanism of the dual-reporter system
Figure 3.5 The schematic illustration of electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSA)53
Figure 3.6 Chart for the ELISA-based DNA binding assay principle
Figure 3.7 Formononetin inhibited NF- κ B activity and DNA binding of NF- κ B in LPS-stimulated
BV2 microglia58
Figure 3.8 Effect of formononetin on IKK/IxB and nuclear translocation of p65 in LPS-activated
BV2 microglia62
Figure 3.9 Effect of formononetin on MAPK in BV2 cells stimulated with LPS65
Figure 3.10 Effect of formononetin in MLK3 phosphorylation in LPS activated BV2 microglia. 66
Figure 3.11 Effects of formononetinon TAK1 phosphorylation67
Figure 3.12 Scheme concluding the Molecular mechanisms underlying the anti-inflammatory
activities of formononetin in LPS activated BV2 microglial cells

Figure 4.1 Mechanism of action of oestrogen receptors75
Figure 4.2 mechanism of RNA interference using siRNA80
Figure 4.3 Effects of formononetin in the oestrogen-response element ERE transcription
activity82
Figure 4.4 Oestrogen receptors ERs expression in BV2 microglia cells83
Figure 4.5 Formononetin activate the expression of oestrogen receptor beta (ER eta) in BV2
microglia cells
Figure 4.6 Effects of formononetin in nitrite production in the absence of oestrogen receptor
beta (ERβ) in LPS-activated BV2 microglia88
Figure 4.7 Effects of formononetin in localization of NF-κB p65 in the absence of oestrogen
receptor beta (ERß) in LPS-activated BV2 microglia90
Figure 5.1 Proposed mechanism of action of formononetin in LPS-activated BV2 microglia 98

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Primary antibodies used with details of resources and dilution factor used2
Table 3.1 Primary antibodies used with details of sources and dilution factor used5
Table 4.1Primary antibodies used with details of resources and dilution factor used7

Abbreviations

AD	Alzheimer disease
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Αβ	Amyloid beta
BBB	Blood brain barrier
BCRs	B-cell receptors
СМ	Conditioned media
CNS	Central nervous system
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CX3CL1	Fractalkine
CXCL12	Stromal cell-derived factor 1
DDT	Dithiothreitol
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dsRNA	Double stranded Ribonucleic acid
E2	Estradiol
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EIA	Enzyme immunoassay
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMSA	Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assay
ERE	estrogen-response element
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinases
ERs	Oestrogen receptors
ERß-KO	Oestrogen receptor ß knockout
ERα	Oestrogen receptor alpha
ERβ	Oestrogen receptor beta
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FMN	Formononetin
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IF	Immunofluorescence
IFNγ	Gamma-interferon
IL-6	Intrlukine-6
INOs	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
IS	Immune system
ISS	Inner immune system
JNK	C-Jun N-terminal kinases
KDa	kilo Dalton
LDS	Lithium dodecyl sulfate

LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MAPKs	Mitogen-activated protein kinases
MC	Mast cells
МНС	Major Histocompatibility Complex
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic acid
MS	Multiple sclerosis
	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium
MTT	bromide
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response 88
NES	Nuclear export signal
NFAT	Nuclear factor of activated T cells
NF-Kb	Nuclear factor kappa b
NLR's	NOD-like receptors
NLS	Nuclear localization signal
NO	Nitric oxide
02-	Superoxide
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PAR2	Proteinase activated receptor 2
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PD	Parkinson disease
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium
SERMs	Selective Oestrogenic receptor modulators
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
siRNA	Small interference Ribonucleic acid
SOCS	Suppressor of cytokine signalling proteins
	Tumour necrosis factor-alpha-matrix
TACE	metalloproteinases converting enzyme
TAK1	Transforming growth factor beta-activated kinase 1
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TBS-T	Tris-buffered saline containing Tween
TC	T. cells
TCRs	T-cell receptors
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TLR's	Toll-like receptors
TLR4	Toll like receptor-4
ΤΝϜα	Tumour necrosis factor-α
Tpl2	Tumour progression locus 2
UCPs	Uncoupling protein

Chapter One Introduction

1.1. Background

The immune system is a complex biological system, which has a role in defending the body against attacks such as pathogens and their toxins. The immune system has three lines of defence. First, the anatomical and physiological barriers such as the skin, mucus and clearance mechanisms, the stomach pH and lysozymes, bacteriolytic tears, saliva and other secretions and the blood-brain barrier (BBB) are the first lines of defence the body against pathogens (Delves et al., 2000; Langman, 2014).

The innate immune response implicates nonspecific immune defence mechanisms that start immediately or within hours after an antigen or chemical passes in to the body. Innate immunity is congenital; macrophages recognise pathogens via receptors pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) including toll like receptors (TLRs) and nucleotide oligomerization domain (NOD) receptors. Recognition of these patterns by macrophages initiates cellular defence mechanisms (LeClair, 2003; Han et al., 2005; Sterka et al., 2006; Lotze et al., 2007). The primary role of this inflammatory response is to eliminate foreign substances by phagocytosis. The resolution of inflammation and tissue repair is a second step in the innate immune response. To resolve infection or repair injury, the innate immune response requires the substitution of lost or damaged cells and restructuring of the extracellular matrix (Barton, 2008; Koenderman et al., 2014).

The third line of defence is acquired immunity or adaptive immunity. It is noncongenital. The immune system reacts with antigens and the acquired immunity's components learn how to attack each antigen and create a memory by generating specific antibodies for it. This way it can deal with the antigen if they re-attack the body because it learns, adapts, and remembers them (Koenderman et al., 2014).

The central nervous system (CNS) has long been considered to be an immune privileged organ. This concept results from the presence of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), anatomophysiological barrier, and tight junctions, which are impermeable to antibodies and immune cells. Research in psychoneuroimmunology in the years 1980 and 1990 have revealed more complex relationships between IS and CNS. Indeed, an infectious episode is accompanied by physiological and behavioural changes such as fever, fatigue, decreased food intake and withdrawal, grouped under the term status

2

disease (Konsman et al., 2001).. The detection of a system of innate immunity within the CNS has allowed a better understanding of the interactions between IS and CNS and the role of these interactions in the host response to infection and associated behavioural changes (Ransohoff et al., 2012).

1.2. Neuroinflammation

Neuroinflammation as a term was first used in the 1990s to describe the inflammatory process and its role in the pathophysiology of most neurodegenerative diseases. Neuroinflammation is now frequently seen as deleterious for neurological function, and is common to a large number of situations, from normal aging to neurological conditions such as neurodegenerative diseases, autoimmune diseases or epilepsy and stroke (Hanisch et al., 2007). The definition of the term 'neuroinflammation' is controversial. Some scientists think the term should be restricted to responses involving two immune cells T and B lymphocytes from the periphery (Bird et al., 2011). Others use a broader definition that includes activation and proliferation of microglial cells (Glass et al., 2010). Graeber and co-workers exclude neuroinflammation in the definition of immune responses involving microglial cells observed during Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, since these conditions do not show infiltration of peripheral cells, so they were grouped under the term 'microglial activation or neuroinflammtion' (Graeber et al., 2011). Neuroinflammation is associated with the CNS in several neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis, and Parkinson's disease (Sheng et al., 2001; McGeer et al., 2004; Block et al., 2005; Phillis et al., 2006). It involves activation of microglia (Perry et al., 2013) which are considered as the resident immune cells of the CNS. (Schwartz et al., 2013). In response to tissue damage or pathogen invasion there is a developing inflammatory response which is amided to protect the CNS and initiates tissue repair (Wyss et al., 2002). However, sustained inflammation or failure in normal resolution mechanisms in the brain may result in the production of neurotoxic factors increasing the disease states (Lull et al., 2010; Sarma, 2014).(Figure 1.1)



Figure 1.1 Schematic diagram showing neuroinflammation-mediated neurodegeneration in the brain.

Several factors induce neuroinflammation such as aging, dementia, stroke, brain injuries, obesity and local and systemic infections by activating microglia, astrocytes and neurons in the brain. These factors also activate immune and inflammatory cells such as T-cells and mast cells in the brain. Because of this activation, many proinflammatory and neurotoxic mediators are released and increasess expression of inflammation related receptor proteins in the brain. These inflammatory mediators and enhanced protein expressions will further increase neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration, which develop into progressive neurodegenerative diseases. MC=mast cells, PAR-2=proteinase activated receptor-2, TC=T-cells, UCPs=mitochondrial uncoupling proteins. Modified from (Duraisamy et al., 2017)

1.3. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common form of age-related neurodegenerative diseases which cause of dementia (Heneka, et al. 2015). AD is a result of changes in brain areas especially the cortex and hippocampus, resulting in a progressive and irreversible changes in the morphology and biochemistry of the brain. The symptoms

of AD are characterised by memory loss, general mental dysfunction and several behavioural and neuropsychiatric disturbances (Morales, et al. 2014).

The pathology of AD is based on the role of amyloid- β (A β) in the formation of extracellular amyloid aggregates which in turn results in the formation of Tau aggregates and neurofibrillary tangles which contribute to neuronal loss, synaptic dysfunction, and diseased neurons characteristic of AD (Minter et al. 2016). In addition, amyloid- β (A β) also causes an activation of microglia and astrocytes, resulting in the release of several pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF α , IL-1 β and IL-6 which may act directly on neurones to induce neurotoxicity and neurodegeneration (Guerriero et al. 2017) (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease

Modified from (Castellani et al., 2008)

1.4. Natural compounds with anti-inflammatory effects

The field of drug discovery has paid a lot of attention to the neuroprotective activities of natural compounds from traditional medicinal herbs, which have antioxidant, antiinflammatory, anti-apoptotic effects.

Genistein, one of the principal active components of Soybean isoflavone, is reported to produce anti-inflammatory activity in BV2 microglia cells, through inhibition of TLR4/NF-kB signal pathway (Zhou et al., 2014).

Biochanin A, an O-methylated isoflavone, is a natural organic compound that has shown anti-inflammatory property in LPS-activated BV2 microglia through inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signalling pathways (Wu et al., 2015).

Another study has revealed that ginseng an ancient herb used in traditional Chinese medicine has anti-inflammatory action in LPS-activated BV2 microglia cells by inhibiting the release of the pro-inflammatory factors such as iNOS and COX2 (Lee et al., 2012)

1.5. Phytoestrogens

Phytoestrogens are naturally occurring components of many plants. As the name suggests, they show oestrogen-like properties. A slightly broader definition also includes effects that suggest an oestrogen mechanism. These include binding to the oestrogen receptor, and induction of specific oestrogen responsive gene products (Sirotkin et al., 2014).

Chemically, phytoestrogens can be classified into five groups, chalcones, flavonoids (flavones, flavonols, flavanones, isoflavonoids), lignans, stilbenoids, and miscellaneous classes as shown in figure 1.3. Particularly, isoflavonoids are a subgroup of flavonoids which include amongst others the chemical groups of isoflavones, isoflavanones, pterocarpanes, and coumestans (Michel et al., 2013; Sirotkin et al., 2014).



Figure 1.3 Molecular structures of the most ubiquitous phytoestrogens

(Michel et al., 2013).

Isoflavones (3-phenylchromone derivatives) are the most-studied phytoestrogens. They differ from the flavones commonly found in plants only by the position of the linkage of chromone and phenyl ring. Isoflavones are predominantly found in legumes and are especially found in high amounts in soybeans. (Poluzzi et al., 2014). The most important isoflavones found in plants are biochanin A, daidzein, glycitein, genistein, and formononetin. Biochanin and formononetin are derivatives of genistein and daidzein with an additional methyl group (Zhao et al., 2010).

In plants, isoflavones are usually present in glucoside form, which is the biologically inactive form. They are converted to the active form by intestinal bacteria and enzymes (Adlercreutz et al., 1987).

Phytoestrogens have been reported to show many pharmacological activities. In the reproductive system, exposure of women to phytoestrogens in both pre- and postmenopausal period may prevent the menopausal symptoms because of the decline in endogenous oestrogen levels, hot flashes and vasomotor symptoms, (Kronenberg et al., 2002; Branca et al., 2005; Bedell et al., 2014). Phytoestrogens have been therapeutically used for diminishing skin aging (Thornton, 2013). Pytoestrogens also play an important role in the immune system; soy phytoestrogens inhibit the intracellular signalling pathway related to NF- κ B transcription factor, activating inflammation and immune response (Liao et al., 2014; Shukla et al., 2015)

7

Animal experiments established the neuroprotective effect of phytoestrogens in terms of their ability to prevent oxidative stress-induced degenerative changes in these neurons (Chao et al., 2012).

1.5.1. Formononetin

Formononetin (7-hydroxy-4'-methoxy isoflavone) is also known as Biochanin B. It is present in a number of plants like the red clover along with other phytoestrogens. It largely occurs in leguminous plants, particularly in beans, such as green beans, lima beans, soy (Jian-Hong et al., 2010). As shown in figures 1.4 and 1.5formononetin has a structural similarity to oestrogen (Yang et al., 2012). It shows oestrogenic effects (Mu et al., 2009b) and hypolipidemic properties (Siddiqui et al., 1976). Formononetin showed significant anti-inflammatory activity through inhibition of nitric oxide (NO) released from lipopolysaccharide-stimulated mouse macrophage RAW cells (Lai et al., 2014). Also, formononetin showed antioxidant effects *in vivo* (Mu et al., 2009a). Several studies proved that formononetin has anti-cancer activity through initiation of growth-inhibitory, pro-apoptotic activities as well as inhibition of tumour cell invasion (Chen et al., 2011; Auyeung et al., 2012). Other studies revealed that formononetin target JNK, ERK and p38 MAPK signalling pathways to inhibit enterovirus 71 replication (Wang et al., 2015) and produced wound healing activities (Huh et al., 2011).

It is reported that formononetin has potent antioxidant effects and oestrogenic effect (Mu et al., 2009b). Furthermore, some researchers have shown that formononetin protect neurons from oxidative stress and toxicity induced by L-glutamate or amyloid- β (Occhiuto et al., 2009). However, little is known about the effects of formononetin on the neuroinflammation induced by LPS in microglia cells.



Figure 1.4 Chemical structure of formononetin.



Figure 1.5 Chemical structure of 17β-Estradiol.

1.6. Gap in knowledge

The effect of formononetin in LPS activated BV2 microglia cells remains unclear. It is also not known if any potential inhibition of neuroinflammation by this compound would translate into neuroprotective activity. The molecular targets of action of this compound is also unclear, especially those relating to activation of microglia oestrogen receptors.

1.6.1. Aim of the study

The aim is to investigate inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin in LPS activated BV2 microglial cells.

1.6.2. Specific objective

Specifically, the following objectives would be achieved

- 1. To investigate the effects of formononetin in LPS-activated BV2 microglia.
- 2. To determine whether formononetin would protect neurons from neuroinflammation-mediated toxicity.
- 3. To elucidate the roles of NF-κB and MAPKs in the inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin.
- To explore the roles played by activation of microglia oestrogen receptor beta (ERβ) in the anti-neuroinflammatory and neuroprotective activities of formononetin.

Chapter Two

Inhibition of neuroinflammation and neuroinflammation-mediated neurotoxicity by formononetin

2.1. Introduction

Microglia, which are the local immune cells in the central nervous system (CNS), contribute to CNS inflammation in many pathological conditions.

Microglia cells are not inactivated under normal conditions. However, they become activated following brain injury and migrate to the injured area .They also phagocytose cells and cellular debris. . In the process microglia, produce inflammatory mediators such as cytokines, chemokines, and reactive oxygen species. Even though an acute inflammation is beneficial after an inflammatory insult, there is evidence that excessive microglial activation can have damaging consequences on healthy cells such as neurons.

Bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) has the ability to induce microglia activation, leading to the release of inflammatory mediators (Thameem et al., 2007) These inflammatory mediators, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and PGE₂, play an important role in the pathological processes involved in neurodegeneration (Smith et al., 2012).

Neurons are particularly susceptible to inflammation-related injury, suggesting that neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory agents (Hirsch et al., 2009; Singhal et al., 2015) may achieve the prevention of neuronal cell damage. It is widely well-known neuroinflammation is associated with many forms of neuronal cell damage that occurs in many neurological diseases and disorders, such as stroke, Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease (Min et al., 2003; Kyoung et al., 2004). Therefore, the identification of agents to inhibit neuroinflammation might be an effective approach for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.

2.2. The microglia in neuroinflammation

An integral part of human immune defence is the microglial cells which are found in the CNS, where they constitute 20% of the total amount of glial population (Kreutzberg, 1996). Following examination of the brains of adult mice, these cells were found extensively in the grey matter, hippocampus, olfactory telencephalon, basal ganglia and substantia nigra (Block et al., 2007). They have a branched structure and are formed in the mesodermal tissues of the CNS, from monocyte-macrophage lineage. Microglia cells are locomotive in ordinaryconditions; they move around and detect changes in their surroundings (Gao et al., 2008). If they sense any alarming situation,

they become activated and behave like macrophages. By functionality, the microglia are classified into:

- Phagocytic phenotype, characterised by innate activation.
- Antigen presenting phenotype, characterised by adaptive activation and the ability to determine the production of cytokines (Town et al., 2005).

On activation, microglial cells undergo a morphological change i.e. changes to amoeboid shape accompanied with shrinking of cellular components and enlargement of the soma. The activated microglia are able to ingest and destroy cellular waste and other foreign materials. In addition, they also attract more microglia, cytokines and other elements that may help in microglial proliferation, by producing chemokines such as fractalkine/neurotactin (CX3CL1) and stromal cell–derived factor 1 (CXCL12) (Wolf et al., 2017). Neuroinflammation in microglial cells can be useful for recovery purposes as stimulating myelin repair, eliminating toxic proteins and averting neurodegeneration (Gao et al., 2008). However, the disruption in the inflammatory process might cause many problems. In any such case, several cytotoxic factors like superoxide ($O_{2^{-}}$), nitric oxide (NO) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF α) produced by activated microglia will lead to chronic neuroinflammation (Boche et al., 2013).

2.3. Microglial activation

The concept of microglial activation has been known since the discovery of microglia as a source of inflammatory factors that are not normally expressed in CNS (Graeber et al., 1988; Graeber et al., 1990). As a defence mechanism, microglia mediate the immune response in the CNS because of infection, brain injury, and stress. There is a release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and generation of reactive oxygen species. These secretions of microglia are beneficial to the host as a protection from infection in the CNS, but they also can be harmful when inflammatory process is chronic. Activated microglia can be divided into two phenotypes (M1 and M2) (figure 2.1) based on the kind of the activator. The classic activated phenotype of microglia (M1) involved in the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , iL-6, TNF α and reactive oxygen species. Whereas (M2) the alternatively activated microglia is an antiinflammatory phenotype, which release anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-10,as well as neurotrophic factors such as nerve growth factor (NGF) and brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Doens et al., 2014). Activated microglia have been detected in the CNS in most of neurodegenerative disorders, and they are believed to play a critical role in the development of these diseases.

Several experimental studies have showed that the inhibition of microglial activation leads to reduced levels of neurotoxins and improved neuronal survival in neurodegenerative diseases (Tang et al., 2016).



Figure 2.1 Microglia activation phyenotypes

Microglia have two states of activation (classical activation M1 phenotype) and (alternative activation M2 phenotype) depending on stimulant. M1 phenotype produce various pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, as well as superoxide, ROS and nitic oxide. These factors lead to neurotoxic response. M2 microglia induced by IL-4/IL-13 and IL-10. M2 phenotype facilitate phagocytosis of cell debris and misfolded proteins and tissue repair, and support neuron survival by neurotrophic factors. Modified from (Carniglia et al., 2017).

2.3.1. The role of toll-like receptors (TLRs) in neuroinflammation

The toll protein receptors are pattern recognition receptors, first discovered in *Drosophila*. They were shown to be essential for determining the dorsal–ventral patterning during embryogenesis (Morisalo et al., 1995; Belvin et al., 1996). They also

play a critical role in the early innate immune response to invading pathogens by sensing microorganisms (Cherry et al., 2006; Ray et al., 2013).In the inflammation aspect a particular interest is in TLR4 which could be activated by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) component of the Gram-negative bacteria (Hanke et al., 2011) resulting in serial activation and phosphorylation of proteins Nuclear Factor kappa B (NF κ B) and Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases (MAPKs). These pathways regulate a wide array of genes in different cell types (Smale, 2010). Some of these genes are responsible for the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin- β (IL-1 β), and interleukin-6 (IL-6) which amplify the inflammatory response (Takeuchi et al., 2010). Furthermore, the generation of reactive oxygen or nitrogen species (ROS or RNS) further amplifies the process.

2.3.1.1. Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)

The innate immune receptor toll-like-receptor 4 (TLR4), localised on the surface of microglia, and is a first-line host defence receptor against invading microorganisms (Yao et al., 2013). TLR4 is expressed in the microglia and its activation produces the inflammatory and innate immune responses (Marsh et al., 2009; Pascual et al., 2011). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is the main component of the outer membrane of Gramnegative bacteria bind to the CD14 and TLR4/MD2 complex leading an activation of TLR4 (Hyakkoku et al., 2010).

TLR4 activation results in the activation of the myeloid differentiation protein 88 (MyD88), the interleukin-1 (IL-1) receptor-associated kinase, the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6), and the transforming growth factor-beta-activated kinase 1 (TAK1). Subsequently, I kappa B kinase (IKK) complex is activated. The activated IKK complex phosphorylates I kappa B α , which triggers its ubiquitination/degradation and subsequent release of nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B), which then translocate to the nucleus and activates the transcription of kappa B-dependent genes, such as IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α (Figure 2.2) (Ock et al., 2007; Lehnardt, 2010).



Figure 2.2 Schematic overview of Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 signalling pathway.

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) binds to TLR4 on the cell membrane, followed by activation of the TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) which leads to activation of transforming growth factor beta-activated kinase 1 (TAK1), This in turn leads to activation of transcription factors nuclear factor (NF)-kB and MAPKs including p38, JNK and ERK, and controls the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and other immune-related genes(O'Neill et al., 2000; Guo et al., 2010).

2.4. Roles of pro-inflammatory factors in neuroinflammation

2.4.1. Pro inflammatory cytokines

Pro-inflammatory cytokines are proteins which control cellular immunity and the inflammatory response (Borish et al., 2003; Murphy et al., 2008). IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α are cytokines produced in the periphery and the CNS (typically by microglia) (Brough et al., 2011). These cytokines have been thoroughly investigated in studies involving neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative diseases (Wang & Tan, 2015; Kim et al., 2016).

2.4.1.1. Tumour necrosis factor (TNF-α)

Tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine which has been linked to innate immune response (Clark, 2007). The biological activities of TNF- α are mediated by two receptors, which though are similar structurally but are functionally different. These receptors are (TNFRI or p55) and (TNFRII or p75) (Vitkovic et al., 2000). TNF- α receptors are important in host defence against pathogens (Dempsey et al., 2003). Most of the inflammatory responses, which are linked to TNF- α , are mediated by the p55 TNFRI. For example, studies of TNF- α receptor-deficient mice reveal that p55 plays a critical role in mediating endotoxic shock (Pfeffer et al., 1993; Waters et al., 2013). Consequently, a thorough understanding of TNF- α signalling pathway in neurodegenerative disorders would be useful in the development of novel bioactives in the treatment of these conditions.

2.4.2. Interleukin-6 (IL-6)

Interleukin-6 (IL-6, also known as IFN- β 2) is involved in the pathogenesis of inflammatory disorders. Significant neuropathological changes in conditions such as multiple sclerosis (MS), Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases are strongly linked with increased IL-6 expression in the brain (Rothaug et al., 2016). It is important to note that IL-6 expression is regulated by transcription factors such as nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B), activator protein 1 (AP-1), cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) and CCAAT/ enhancer-binding protein β (C/EBP β) (Dendorfer et al., 1994).

2.4.2.1. IL-1 Beta (IL-1β)

The activation of IL-1- β is via Toll-like receptors (TLR) with the production of pro-IL-1- β . Subsequently, pro-IL-1 β is converted into the mature form via the enzyme caspase-1(Gibson et al., 2004; Shaftel et al., 2007).

2.4.3. Pro-inflammatory enzymes

2.4.3.1. Cyclooxygenase (COX)

Cyclooxygenase (COX) is the rate-limiting enzyme in the conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandins (PGs) which are mediators that play a major role in several physiological and pathological processes, including inflammation (Farooqui et al., 2007). Two distinct COX isoforms are known as COX-1 and COX-2. These isoforms differ in mechanisms, tissue distribution and the mechanisms involved in their coupling to upstream and downstream proteins in the CNS (Grösch et al., 2017). COX-1 is constitutively expressed in most tissues, and has been shown to be responsible for PG synthesis in homeostasis (Phillis et al., 2006). On the other hand, COX-2 is mainly induced in response to inflammatory stimuli. The property of COX-2 led to the belief that selective inhibition of the enzyme can reduce inflammation without affecting the physiological functions of COX-1-derived PGs, resulting in the development of COX-2 selective inhibitors. In terms of the microglia, COX-2 mRNA and protein as well as prostaglandin E2 formation were not detected in unstimulated microglia. However, following stimulation with lipopolysaccharide their levels and expression were elevated (Hoozemans et al., 2001).

2.4.3.2. Nitric oxide synthases

The synthesis of NO in inflammation depends on an inducible form of NO synthase (iNOS), which is synthesised in leucocytes, vasculature and possibly parenchymal cells at sites of injury, in response to cytokines or microbial products.

2.5. Theme of this chapter

The focus of the study in this chapter is the investigation into the possible protective effects of formononetin in the LPS-induced BV2 microglia inflammation. This chapter

also highlights the neuroprotective effect of formononetin in the mouse hippocampal HT22 neurons.

2.6. Materials and methods

2.6.1. Materials

The following materials were used: tissue culture flasks (75 mL), tissue culture plates (96-, 24- and 6-well plates), 50 ml and 15 ml centrifuge tubes, serological pipettes, micro-test tubes 0.5 ,1.5 ml and RNA free Eppendorf tubes 1.5 ml , 1000 ,200 and 10 µl tips, pipetting reservoir (55 ml) were acquired from Sarstedt (Nürnbrecht, Germany). The supplier for the other materials like reagents, chemicals, buffers, ELISA kits, gels, membranes, antibodies and instruments will be described.

2.6.2. Formononetin

- Formononetin was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, dissolved in DMSO, and a stock solution of 0.1 M frozen at -80°C. The purity of formononetin was confirmed using proton NMR.One milligram of formononetin was dissolved in DMSO-d6.NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Ascend 400 MHz spectrometer, with chemical shifts being quoted in ppm referenced relative to the residual solvent signal (, DMSO δ = 2.5) as shown in figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3 NMR spectra for formononetin which used in the whole study

(a) ¹H NMR spectra of FMN which used in the study (b)¹H NMR spectra of FMN from different study as reference (b) (Guo et al., 2017).

2.6.3. Culture media

Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium RPMI 1640, which already contained L-glutamine (2 mM) was purchased from Sigma (UK). This was supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (Sigma), 100 mM sodium pyruvate (Sigma), streptomycin (100 U/ml) and penicillin G (100 mg/ml) (Sigma).

Opti-MEM reduced-serum medium which is an improved Minimal Essential Medium (MEM) was supplemented with 5% FBS (Sigma), 100 mM sodium pyruvate (Sigma), streptomycin (100 U/ml) and penicillin (100 mg/ml) (Sigma).

DMEM–Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (Life Technologies) was supplemented with 10% FBS (Sigma), 100 mM sodium pyruvate (Sigma), streptomycin (100 U/ml) and penicillin G (100 mg/ml) (Sigma)

2.6.4. Lipopolysaccharide

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from *Salmonella typhimurium* (Innaxon UK) was used and stored at 4°C. A 100 µg/ml concentration of LPS was prepared using sterile deionised double distilled water just before stimulating cells and discarded after the stimulation.

In order to identify the concentration of LPS which produces optimum activation of BV2 microglia, cells were stimulated with different concentrations of LPS (10, 50, 100, 250, 500 and 1000 ng/ml) followed by incubation for 24 hours. At the end of the incubation period, supernatant was collected. Nitrite assay was preformed to detect nitritic oxide production as an indicator for microglia activation. Results showed a concentration-dependent increase in nitrite production up to 100 ng/ml of LPS (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4 LPS concentration to stimulates BV2

2.6.5. Cell culture

2.6.5.1. BV2 cell culture

BV2 mouse microglia cell line ICLCATL03001 was purchased from Interlab Cell Line Collection Banca Biologicae Cell Factory, Italy. Cells were cultured in 75 mL filtercapped vented flasks using complete RPMI 1640 medium in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C. Culture medium was changed with fresh Complete RPMI 1640 medium every 48 hours. Confluent cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and
trypsinised with 0.25% trypsin-EDTA solution. RPMI medium was added to terminate the action of trypsin. Thereafter, cells were collected in 50 ml sterile centrifuge tubes and centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes. The medium was then aspirated, and cells were re-suspended in fresh complete medium. The suspended cells were counted and sub-cultured in a new flask or seeded out at a concentration of 2×10^5 cell/ml in various cell culture plates.

Viability experiments using MTT assay revealed that treatment of BV2 cells with formononetin (2.5, 5.0 and 10 μ M) in the presence or the absence of LPS did not induce cytotoxicity figure 2.4.





BV2 cells were treated with different concentrations of formononetin followed by stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml) and incubated for 24 hours. After the incubation MTT assay was carried out. Results showed that formononetin at concentration of 2.5, 5 and 10 μ M did not affect cell viability whereas at a concentration of 20 μ M and 40 μ M, cell viability decreased to 80% and ~50%, respectively.

In order to investigate the effect of DMSO (used as a vehicle in dissolving formononetin) on cell viability an MTT assay was carried out.

Confluent cultures of BV2 microglia cells in 96-well plates were treated with DMSO (0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1, 2 and 5%), and incubated for 24 hrs, followed by MTT assay. The results showed that the concentration of DMSO from 0.1 to 0.5% did not affect the

viability of BV2 microglia. However, treatment with 1% of DMSO produced toxicity to microglia (Figure 2.6).



2.6 MTT assay for BV2 cells toxicity with DMSO.

2.6.5.2. Mouse hippocampal neuronal cells (HT22) cell culture

HT22 neuronal cells were obtained from Dr-Jeff Davis through the (Salk instite for biological studies, California,USA). These cells were derived from HT4 cells (Davis & Maher, 1994). HT22 cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10 % FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 mg/ml streptomycin in a 5 % CO2 incubator at 37 °C.

2.6.6. MTT assay for cell viability

The MTT assay measures the reduction of yellow 3-(4, 5-dimethythiazol- 2-yl)-2, 5diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) in the mitochondria. The yellow colour of MTT solution is reduced to an insoluble coloured (dark purple) formazan product (Figure 2.7). Cells are solubilised with an organic solvent (e.g., DMSO) and the released, solubilised formazan reagent is measured spectrophotometrically. Since the reduction of MTT can only occur in metabolically active cells , the level of activity is a measure of the viability of the cells. MTT viability assay was conducted to confirm that the different concentrations of formononetin used in the whole study were not reducing viability of the cells, indicating that any observed reduction in signals was not as a result of reduced cell numbers (Mosmann, 1983).



Figure 2.7 The principle of MTT assay, the water-soluble yellow MTT reduced to purple insoluble formazan can be solubilised in DMSO. (Abe et al., 2000).

BV2 cells were cultured in 96 well plate for 48 hours. This was followed by medium change to serum-free RPMI medium. Cells were then incubated with or without LPS (100 ng/ml) in the absence or presence of formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) for 24 hours. The medium was replaced with addition of 200 μ I of MTT solution (0.5 mg/ml; Sigma) to each well. The plate was then incubated for 4 hours at 37°C. After incubation, 200 μ I of medium was removed from each well without disturbing cells clusters. Therafter 150 μ I of DMSO solution was added to each well to dissolve formazan crystals. After all the crystals had dissolved, absorbance was read at 540 nm with a microplate reader (Tecan F50).

2.6.7. Determination of nitrite production (Griess assay)

The principle of the assay is based on the conversion of sulfanilic acid to a diazonium salt by reaction with nitrite in acid solution. The diazonium salt is then coupled to N-(1-naphthyl) ethylenediamine, forming an azo dye (Figure 2.8) that can be quantified through colorimetry.



Figure 2.8 Principle of the Griess assay

The reaction of nitrite (NO2-) with Griess reagents forms an azo dye that is easily detected spectrophotometrically (Coneski et al., 2012).

BV2 cells were seeded out in a 96-well plate at a density of 2×10^5 cells/ml for 48 hours. Cells were then stimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml) in the absence or presence of formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) for 24 hours. Cell supernatants were collected and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1500 rpm. Nitrite concentration in the culture medium was measured using Griess assay kit (Promega). Culture supernatants (50 μ I) were added to a 96-well microtest plate. Thereafter, 50 μ I of sulphanilamide added to the plate and incubated in dark for 10 minutes. Then, 50 μ I of N-(1-naphthyI) ethylenediamine (NED) was added and incubated for 10 minutes. Absorbance was read at 540 nm in a microplate reader (Infinite F50, Tecan) and calculated against a sodium nitrite standard curve.

2.6.8. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

BV2 cells were cultured in an incubator at 37°C with 5% CO₂. The cell density was 2×10^5 cells/ml. Thereafter, the cells were pre-treated with formononetin (2.5-10 µM) for 30 minutes followed by stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml) for a further 24 hours. Then, culture supernatants were collected and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1500 rpm. The concentration of TNF α , IL-6, and IL-1 β were measured using ELISA kits (Biolegend), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Firstly, 96-well microplate was pre-coated by adding 100 μ l of 1:200 diluted capture antibody to each well and incubated overnight at 4°C. This was followed by adding 200 μ l of blocking buffer for 1 hour at room temperature. After blocking, 100 μ l of standard and samples were added in triplicates and incubated at room temperature for 2 hours Then detection antibody was added to the plate for 1 hour, followed by addition of 100 μ l of an Avidin-HRP solution to each well for 30 minutes. Thereafter, 100 μ l of TMB substrate was added followed by incubation in the dark for 15 minutes. Finally, the reaction was terminated by the addition of 100 μ l of stop solution (0.1 M sulphuric acid) to each well. Absorbance was measured at 450 nm with a Tecan Infinite F50 microplate reader. The concentration of cytokines in samples was calculated from a standard curve. At the end of each step up to stopping the reaction, the plate was washed for 4 times using washing buffer.

2.6.9. Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) detection enzyme immunoassay (EIA)

Enzyme immunoassay (EIA) is a reliable method for measuring levels of PGE₂ in a culture medium. PGE₂ EIA test kit operates by competition between the enzyme conjugate and the PGE₂ in the sample for a limited number of binding sites on the antibody-coated plate. This approach allows for detection of low concentrations of PGE₂ in a culture medium.

BV2 cells were cultured at a density of 2 x 10^5 cells/ml in 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C. Thereafter, cells were treated with formononetin (2.5-10 µM) 30 minutes prior to stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml) for further 24 hours. Levels of PGE₂ in culture supernatants were measured using an EIA kit (Arbor Assays, Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA). This was done by adding 50 µl of PGE₂ standards and samples in triplicates to pre-coated 96-well plate with a PGE₂ capture antibody, followed by addition of of PGE₂ conjugate (25 µl) and PGE₂ antibody (25 µl). The plate was incubated at room temperature for 2 hours. Thereafter, plate was washed four times using washing buffer and 100 µl of TMB substrate added to each well and incubated in dark for 30 minutes. The reaction then was terminated using a stop solution. Absorbance was measured in a microplate reader (Infinite F50, Tecan) at a wavelength of 450 nm. The concentration of PGE₂ was calculated comparing to the standard curve.

2.6.10. Cell Lysis and Protein Extraction

Cell lysis is the first step in cell fractionation and protein extraction and purification. As such, cell lysis opens the door to a myriad of proteomics research methods.

2.6.10.1. Preparation of whole cell extracts

Cell lysis buffer is used to lyse cells under non-denaturing conditions to study protein levels in the cell. Whole cell lysates were prepared by washing cells with ice-cold PBS, followed by addition of 20µl cell lysis radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA) (Cell Signaling) which contains 1 mM Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) (Sigma). The cells were incubated on ice for 10 minutes and sonicated for 1 minute followed by cold centrifugation for 15 minutes at 13500 rpm. The resulting supernatants were collected, quantified and stored at -80 °C.

2.6.10.2. Protein quantitation

Whole cell extract was diluted with de-ionised double distilled water. Then, 5 μ l of protein samples and standards were added to 96-well plate in duplicate. This was followed by adding 250 μ l of Coomassie reagent, and incubation at room temperature for 10 minutes. Absorbance was measured at 540 nm and protein concentration was calculated from a protein standard curve.

2.6.11. Immunoblotting

Approximately 20 µg of protein were denatured by heating with 5 µl of lithium dodecyl sulfate (Invitrogen) and 2µl of 500 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) (Invitrogen) at 70°C for 10 minutes. This was followed by electrophoresis on 4-12% Bis-Tris pre-cast polyacrylamide gels (Invitrogen) at a voltage of 200V for 35 minutes in a NuPAGE SDS running buffer (Fisher Scientific). Separated proteins were blotted onto a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane (Millipore) using transfer buffer (Fisher Scientific) for 2 hours at 25V. After transferring the protein, membranes were incubated in blocking buffer non-fat dry milk (Santa Cruz) for 1 hour at room temperature and washed three times for 10 minutes each in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) containing 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS-T) and 1% BSA, and incubated with the primary antibody (Table 2.1) which was diluted in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) containing 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) overnight at 4°C . Proteins were detected by incubation

with Alexa Fluor 680 goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1:10000; Life Technologies) at room temperature for 1 hour. Detection was done using a LICOR Odyssey Imager. All western blot experiments were carried out at least three times.

Antibody	supplier	Host	Туре	Dilution
Anti-COX-2	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-iNOS	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-MAP2	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-actin	Sigma Aldrrich	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:1000

Table 2.1 Primary antibodies used with details of resources and dilution factor used.

2.6.12. Neurotoxicity of BV2 conditioned medium

Conditioned medium (CM) is a medium that cells have been cultured in for a period to allow these cells to release/ secrete proteins, cytokines and chemicals .Condition media is used to show that specific cell type produces certain mediators that can affect other cells phenotype.

Conditioned medium-induced neurotoxicity has been used to investigate the effect of formononetin in neurotoxicity induced by LPS activated BV2 cells. BV2 microglia cells were pre-treated with formononetin (2.5–10 μ M) and then stimulated with LPS (1 μ g/ml) for 24 hours. This was followed by centrifugation to obtain cell-free supernatants. The HT-22 hippocampal neuronal cells were serum-starved for 3 hours and then treated with BV2 microglial cell-conditioned medium, followed by 24-hour incubation. At the end of the experiment, 190 μ I MTT solution (0.5 mg/ml) was added to each well containing HT22 neurons and incubated at 37 °C for 4 hours. Then, 190 μ I of the medium was removed and 150 μ I of DMSO solvent was added to wells to dissolve the formazan crystals. The plate was shaken for a few seconds to achieve through mixing followed by measurement of absorbance at 540 nm with a microplate reader. BV2 microglia culture media were also collected and levels of TNF α , NO, and PGE₂ measured in the samples.

2.6.13. Immunofluorescence

BV2 cells were seeded at a density of 2×10^5 cell/ml in a 24-well plate. At confluence, cells were pre-treated with formononetin (10 µM) for 30 minutes followed by stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 24 hours, followed by collecting the supernatants and centrifugation. HT22 hippocampal neuronal cells were treated with BV2 microglia

cells-conditioned medium , followed by 24 hour incubation After incubation, cells were fixed with ice-cold 100% methanol at -20°C for 15 minutes and washed three times with phosphate buffer saline (PBS) for 5 minutes. This was followed by blocking non-specific binding by incubating cells in 5% BSA blocking solution (containing 10% horse serum in 1X TBS-T) for 60 minutes at room temperature. Thereafter, the cells were incubated with anti-MAP2 antibody (Santa Cruz diluted at 1:100 using 5% BSA blocking solution) overnight at 4°C. Following the incubation, cells were washed three times with PBS and incubated for 2 hours in the dark with Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody (Life Technologies; 1:500) using 5% BSA blocking buffer Cells were then washed with PBS and counterstained with 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole DAPI (Invitrogen) at concentration of 100 μ M for three minutes. Cells were rinsed with PBS, the excess buffer was removed and gold antifade reagent (Invitrogen) was added. Fluorescence images were acquired using EVOS® FLoid® cell imaging station.

2.6.14. Statistical Analysis

All experiments were performed at least three times and in triplicates and the statistical analysis was preformed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). ANOVA allows for comparison of the mean values between all the groups. Analysis was followed by the post-hoc Student-Newman-Keuls test with multiple comparisons. Calculation of statistical analysis were done with Graph Pad Prism software version 5 (San Diego, US). Differences were considered significant at p<0.05. Immunofluorescence imaging results are representative of those obtained from three independent experiments.

2.7. Results

2.7.1. Formononetin did not affect BV2 cell viability

In order to determine whether formononetin affected the viability of BV2 cells, MTT assay was carried out after incubating the cells with the compound for 24 hours. Results show that there was no significant difference in the viability of cells treated with formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) when compared with control (untreated) cells (Figure 2.7).



Figure 2.9 Effect of formononetin on cell viability in LPS-activated BV2 microglia.

Pre-treatment with formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) did not affect the viability of BV2 microglia stimulated with LPS. Cells were stimulated LPS (100 ng/ml) in the presence or absence of formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) for 24 h. At the end of the incubation period, MTT assay was carried out on cells.

2.7.2. Formononetin reduced the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-6 and IL-1 β in BV2 microglia stimulated with LPS

The release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α , IL-6 and IL-1 β is now known to be a major process in neuroinflammation. Consequently, an investigation was carried out to determine if pre-treatment with formononetin would suppress the release of these cytokines in LPS-activated BV2 microglia. Stimulation of the cells with LPS (100 ng/ml) resulted in a significant increase in the secretion of TNF α , IL-6 and IL-1 β in comparison with unstimulated BV2 cells (Figure 2.8). However, when cells were pre-treated with formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M), there was a significant reduction (p<0.001) in TNF α production, in comparison with LPS control (Figure 2.8a). Similarly, increased levels of IL-6 secreted into culture supernatants was significantly (p<0.05) reduced by 5 and 10 μ M formononetin (Figure 2.8b). Also results in (Figure 2.8c) showed significant reduction of the production of IL-1 β (p<0.001) compared with LPS control.

150-*** TNF-a production (% of LPS control) 100 50 0 LPS(100 ng/ml) + + + + Formononetin(µM) 2.5 5 10 -

b)

a)



32



c)

Figure 2.10 Effect of formononetin on $TNF\alpha$, IL-6 and IL-1 β production in LPS-activated BV2 microglia.

Formononetin reduced TNF α (a), IL-6 (b) and IL-1 β (c) production in LPS-activated BV2 microglia. Cells were stimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml) in the presence or absence of formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) for 24 hours. At the end of the incubation period, supernatants were collected for ELISA measurements.

2.7.3. Formononetin inhibited nitrite production through reduction of iNOS protein in LPS-activated BV2 microglia

The effect of formononetin on nitrite production in LPS-stimulated BV2 microglia was evaluated. The compound dose-dependently suppressed the release of nitrite (p<0.001) following stimulation with LPS (Figure 2.9a). Further investigations using western blotting showed that formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) produced significant (p<0.001) suppression of elevated levels of iNOS protein following LPS stimulation (Figure 2.7b). These results suggest that formononetin suppressed NO production in LPS-activated BV2 microglia by reducing the levels of iNOS protein.



Figure 2.11 Effect of formononetin on nitric oxide (NO) and inducible nitric oxide (iNOS) protein expression in BV2 cells stimulated with LPS.

Formononetin inhibited nitric oxide (NO) release (a) and inducible nitric oxide (iNOS) protein expression (b) in BV2 cells stimulated with LPS. BV2 cells were stimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml) in the presence or absence of formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) for 24 hours followed by preforming nitrite assay and iNOS western blot

b)

2.7.4. Formononetin reduced PGE₂ production by reducing levels of COX-2 protein in LPS-stimulated BV2 microglia

The effects of pre-treatment with formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) were tested on PGE₂ production in BV2 microglia which were stimulated with LPS. As shown in Figure 2.10a, stimulation of BV2 cells produced marked elevation of PGE₂ compared to cells, which were not stimulated. However, in the presence of formononetin (5 and 10 μ M) there was significant (p<0.001) and concentration-dependent reduction in PGE₂ production. Following results showing effects of formononetin on PGE2 production, further experiments were performed to determine whether its actions were mediated by the COX-2 enzyme. Results in Figure 2.10b show an increase in the levels of COX-2 protein in LPS stimulated cells, when compared with unstimulated cells. Pre-treatment with formononetin (10 μ M) produced significant (p<0.001) reduction in LPS-induced PGE₂ production by suppressing the levels of COX-2 protein in BV2 microglia.

a)





Figure 2.12 Effect of formononetin on PGE₂ production and COX-2 protein levels in BV2 microglia activated with LPS.

Formononetin attenuated PGE₂ production (a), COX-2 protein expression (b), in LPSactivated BV2 microglia. Microglia were incubated in a medium containing formononetin (2.5, 5 and10 μ M) for 30 min and then activated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 24 h. Formononetin prevents neuroinflammation-mediated HT22 neuronal death by regulating microglial activation.

The neuroprotective effect of formononetin in BV2 microglia/HT22 hippocampal neuron co-culture was investigated. BV2 microglial cells were pre-treated with formononetin (2.5–10 μ M) and then stimulated with LPS (1 μ g/ml) for 24 hours. HT22 cells were then exposed to conditioned media from the stimulated BV2 microglia for a further 24 hours. At the end of the experiment, viability of neuronal cells (a measure of neurotoxicity) was determined using the MTT assay for cell viability. Also, levels of MAP2 protein was detected by immunofluorescence and western blot.

MTT results showed that formononetin significantly (p<0.01) increased HT-22 cell viability in a dose dependant manner compared to LPS control (Figure 2.11a), Furthermore, western blotting was performed for MAP2 protein. MAP2 belongs to a family of proteins known as the microtubule associated proteins and is an excellent marker for neuronal cells. Results show a significant increase ($p \le 0.001$) in MAP2 expression (Figure 2.11b). These observations were confirmed by double-

fluorescence imaging which showed an increasing in MAP2 expression in HT22 cells which were pre-treated with different concentrations of formononetin (Figure 2.11c).

a)

b)





Figure 2.13 Effects of formononetin on the microglia-mediated neurotoxicity.

Mouse hippocampal HT22 cells were treated with conditioned medium (CM) from BV2 microglia exposed to LPS (1 μ g/ml) for 24 h with or without formononetin pretreatment. After 24-hour incubation, the cell viability of HT22 cells was assessed by MTT assay. LPS (1 μ g/ml)-treated BV2 cells CM reduces the viability of HT22 cells. However, the decrease in cell viability was ameliorated by formononetin in a dose dependent manner(a). HT22 neuronal cultures were treated for 24 h with cell-free supernatant from LPS-stimulated BV2 in the absence or presence of formononetin. Lysates were collected and analysed for levels of MAP2 protein using immunoblotting (b),followed by immunofluorescence imaging for MAP2 protein (c).Formononetin produced concentration-dependent increase in MAP2 protein in HT22 neuronal cells.

2.8. Discussion

Several lines of evidence from several studies indicate that pro-inflammatory cytokines, notably TNF- α , IL- 6 and IL-1 β , participate in the early development of inflammation, and they play a crucial role in neuroinflammation. (Rubio-Perez et al., 2012). Modulation of the pro-inflammatory cytokines production showed to prevent neurotoxicity (Wang & Tan, 2015) Pro-inflammatory cytokines have therefore appropriately received considerable attention as therapeutic targets in neuroinflammation (Linker et al., 2008; Lehnardt, 2010; Kim & Leonard, 2016).

In the present study, induction of neuroinflammation with LPS in BV2 microglia resulted in a significant increase in the levels of TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-1 β , in comparison with the control. However, pre-treatment with formononetin reduced LPS-induced elevation in the levels of these pro-inflammatory cytokines. These results provide the first evidence suggesting that formononetin inhibits neuroinflammation in BV2 microglia. These results are also consistent with previous studies which showed that formononetin blocks allergic inflammation via suppression of pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Xu et al., 2017).

One of the most critical molecules released by activated microglia is nitric oxide (NO). NO produces physiological effects in neuromodulation and neurotransmission in the brain. However, excessive production of NO by microglia induces neuroinflammation and produces neuronal cell injury and death (Ghasemi et al., 2014). Nitric oxide (NO) is produced by the action of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), which catalyses the reaction of arginine with molecular oxygen to form citrulline and NO (Ljubisavljevic et al., 2014).

This study demonstrated that in the presence of formononetin, there was a reduction in nitrite production caused by LPS stimulation of BV2 microglia. It was further shown that suppression of nitrite production by formononetin was through reduction of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS). Both observations provided further evidence on the inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin, and confirmed recent reports showing iNOS-mediated inhibition of NO production form N9 microglia cells (Zhou et al., 2017; Lai et al., 2017).

The role of COX-2-mediated neurotoxicity in neurodegenerative disorders has been well explored (Feng et al., 2002). One of the key downstream products of COX-2 is

39

prostaglandin E2 (PGE2).COX-2 is upregulated during neuroinflammation in both the neurons and reactive microglia (Zarghi et al., 2012). PGE₂ levels were found to be increased in the CSF of AD patients (Sil et al., 2016). Thus, PGE2 is considered as an important marker of neuroinflammation. Moreover, PGE₂ mediated release of TNF- α , IL-1 β , and nitrite may result in neuronal death (Müller et al., 2004). In this study it was shown that formononetin suppressed COX-2 protein expression which might explain its ability to reduce PGE₂ production in LPS-activated BV2 microglia.

A number of studies reported that phytoestrogens like genistein and equol inhibited the expression of COX-2 and reduced PGE₂ levels in microglia cells (Hertrampf et al., 2005; Subedi et al., 2017). It has also been shown that formononetin suppresses COX-2 and PGE₂ in (LPS)-stimulated mouse macrophage RAW 264.7 cells (Lai et al., 2012). *In vivo* studies revealed that mRNA levels of COX-2 in the brain of the TBI rat was significantly down-regulated with formononetin (Li et al., 2014). These outcomes show that formononetin appears to exert modulatory activities on COX-2/PGE₂ in diverse models of inflammation. These results are also consistent with the effects of the compound shown in the current investigation.

In the CNS, chronic microglial activation has been linked to a persistent, continuous production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, interleukins and chemokines. The production of excessive amounts of these neurotoxic factors released by activated microglia has been shown to affect adjacent neurons (Lull et al., 2010). Neuronal cultures treated with conditioned medium from microglia cells that were stimulated with inflammatory agents such as LPS are a useful tool to study neuroinflammation *in vitro*(Haenseler et al., 2017).

Encouraged by results showing that formononetin treatment resulted in a reduction in elevated levels of pro-inflammatory mediators in BV2 microglia following LPS stimulation, neuroinflammation-induced neurotoxicity experiments were carried out using conditioned medium from LPS-activated BV2 microglia. Results of cell viability experiments revealed neuroinflammation-induced neurotoxicity in HT22 hippocampal neurons exposed to conditioned medium from BV2 cells that were stimulated with LPS. Interestingly, neurotoxicity was reduced when BV2 cells were treated with formononetin prior to LPS stimulation, suggesting that this compound is able to prevent neuronal damage and death caused by excessive release of neurotoxic factors from microglia cells.

These observations were confirmed by detecting MAP2 protein expression following exposure of HT22 neurons to conditioned medium. It was shown that conditioned medium that was obtained from LPS-stimulated BV2 microglia cells reduced the expression of MAP2 protein in HT22 neurons, compared to unstimulated control cells, a phenomenon that was reversed in the presence for formononetin. MAP2 is a member of the microtubule-associated family which assemble neuronal microtubules (Ankam et al., 2015). MAP2 is a specific neuronal marker and is known to be highly expressed in healthy neuronal cells.

This study has demonstrated a neuroprotective activity for formononetin. This outcome is consistent with another study showing that formononetin protected dopaminergic neurons against LPS-induced injury through inhibition of microglia activation and pro-inflammatory factors (Chen et al., 2008)These observations are significant as several studies revealed that neuroinflammation is linked with the induction of neuronal death through the release of excessive amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Zhao et al., 2013; de Pablos et al., 2014).

In summary, this study has provided evidence showing that formononetin produces anti-inflammatory effects in LPS-activated BV2 microglia by targeting NO/iNOS and PGE2/COX2 production as well as reducing the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-6 and IL-1 β . Also it appears that inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin may be partially responsible for its neuroprotective activity in neuroinflammation-induced toxicity to HT22 hippocampal neurons. It would be interesting to establish in future if formononetin could modulate other forms of neurotoxicity..

41

Chapter Three Cellular signalling involving Nuclear Factor-kappa B (NF-kB) and the Mitogen Activated Protein Kinases (MAPKs) are the molecular targets of anti-inflammatory activity of formononetin in LPS activated BV2 microglial

3.1. Introduction

The activation of glial cells is accompanied by an increase in the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, NO and prostaglandin E2. This production is promoted by activation of inflammatory signalling pathways such as NF- κ B and MAPK, which are triggered by the toll-like receptor signalling (Walter et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2012). The mammalian nuclear factor- kappa B (NF- κ B) and MAPK regulate a number of important processes, including neuroinflammation and immune responses, cell growth and survival. Moreover, NF- κ B and MAPK activities contribute to the pathology of several human diseases, including many cancers and chronic inflammatory diseases by controlling the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines. In the previous chapter it was shown that formononetin inhibit the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, TNF- α and II-1 β and reduced the expression of iNOS and COX-2 which resulted in an inhibition of NO and PGE2 production. In this chapter, the roles of NF- κ B and MAPK pathways as possible molecular targets for anti-inflammatory activity of formononetin are described.

3.1.1. Nuclear Factor-kappa B

Nuclear factor kappa beta (NF- κ B) is a transcription factor that plays important roles in the immune system (Portou et al., 2015; Serasanambati et al., 2016) by regulating several gene expressions of cytokines such as IL-6, IL1 β ,TNF α , (iNOS (COX-2) and growth factors. NF- κ B also plays a role in the development and the activity of a number of tissues including the central nervous system (Caviedes et al., 2017). Moreover, pathological dysregulation of NF- κ B is linked to inflammatory and autoimmune diseases as well as cancer (Tafani et al., 2013; Farh et al., 2015).

NF- κ B family consists of five related transcription factors: p50, p52, RelA (p65), c-Rel and RelB (Dev et al., 2010). There are two signalling pathways leading to the activation of NF- κ B known as the canonical pathway (or classical) and the non-canonical pathway (or alternative pathway) (Gilmore, 2006) (Figure 3.1). The activation of I κ B kinase (IKK) complex is the common step in both cascades. There is catalytic kinase subunit for I κ B kinase (IKK) complex (IKK α and/or IKK β) and the regulatory non-enzymatic scaffold protein NEMO (NF-kappa B essential modulator also known as IKK γ) (Perkins, 2007).NF- κ B transcription subunits gets activated by the

43

phosphorylation of IKK which is followed by phosphorylation and proteasomal degradation of $I\kappa B$ proteasome. Consequently NF- κB unbinds and then translocates into the nucleus to trigger the expression of target genes (Brasier, 2006).



Figure 3.1 Canonical and noncanonical pathways of NF-KB activation.

The canonical NF- κ B pathway (**left**) by signals such as TLR ligands (e.g. LPS) activates the IKK β subunit. Phosphorylation of I κ B proteins by IKK β results in ubiquitination (Ub) of I κ B and degradation. This releases NF- κ B, which then enters the nucleus to regulate the transcription of inflammatory gene expression. The non-canonical pathway (**right**) requires NIK to activate IKK α , followed by phosphorylation of p100 (NF- κ B2). Modified from (Oeckinghaus et al., 2011).

3.1.2. Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK)

The mitogen-activated protein (MAPK) kinases are Ser/Thr kinases divided into tree subfamilies that include extracellular regulated kinase (ERK), c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase, also called stress activated protein kinases or SAPK (JNK) and p38 (Raman et al., 2007). The MAPKs are activated in response to different extracellular stimuli such as stress, growth factors , and pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , TNF- α) (Huang et al., 2010).

MAPKs pathway consists of several phosphorylation of proteins (Tatevossian et al., 2010). These initiate the phosphorylation of certain transcription factors such as NF- κ B, signal transducers and activators of transcription protein (STAT) and nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT). Activation of these factors results in a cascade of signalling events that lead downstream to the activation of one or more of the MAP kinases (Figure 3.3). The involvement of multiple signalling proteins within a complex signalling network allows for regulation at various steps in the pathway and integration of signals from a diversity of stimuli (Cargnello et al., 2011).

The activation of MAPK is through two steps and has three protein modules: the MAPK kinase kinase (MAP3K), MAPK kinase (MAP2K) and MAPK (Klip, 2009). The first step involves the phosphorylation of a kinase that has a dual specificity called MAP2K (or MAP/ERK kinase (MEK) or (MKK) by MAP3K. The second step is through phosphorylation of the MAPK by MKKS where MAPK is active. This phosphorylation is carried out by the addition of a phosphate group on Ser or Thr (Kyriakis et al., 2012). There are 12 MAPKs, 7 MKKS, and 14 MKK kinases were identified (Johnson et al., 2002; Morel et al., 2004) (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2 Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) cascade.

Modified from (Dzamko et al., 2014)

3.1.2.1. p38 MAPK

The protein p38 is a "sensor" of cell stress. It is made of four isoforms: p38- α - β - γ , and - δ which have 60% homology (Corrêa et al., 2012). In inflammatory cells, p38 α form is the most expressed (Huang et al., 2010). p38 MAPK was identified for the first time as an activated kinase response to bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Bode et al., 2012). The p38 MAPKs are activated by several extracellular stimuli such as cytokines (IL-1, IL-2, IL-7, IL-17, IL-18, TGF- β and TNF- α), and some pathogens or their products (LPS, *Staphylococcal peptidoglycan, Staphylococcal enterotoxin B, Echovirus 1* and *Herpes simplex virus 1*) (Ono et al., 2000). IL-1, TNF- α and LPS are the major inflammatory stimuli inducing p38 MAPKs (Bode et al., 2012). The p38 MAPK contributes significantly to neuroinflammation due to its role in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Chan et al., 2017). Following stress stimulus, p38 activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-activated protein kinase 2 (MK-2) (Duraisamy et al., 2008). Taken together, it is hypothesised that suppression of the p38 MAPK activation may be a therapeutic strategy in neuroinflammation (Figure 3.3).

3.1.2.2. C-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)

C-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK) are kinases which respond to stress and are activated by various forms of triggers (Varfolomeev et al., 2004). JNK activation results in cell death through inflammation and apoptosis (Cao et al., 2004). Activation of JNK signalling results in pro-inflammatory cytokine production and cell death (Varfolomeev et al., 2004; Gao et al., 2005). JNK plays important roles in neuroinflammation (Tu et al., 2011), and is activated by stimuli such as pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 and TNF- α) (Berenbaum, 2004). It has also been demonstrated to induce the expression of COX-2 (Geng et al., 1996; Hunot et al., 2004).

3.1.2.3. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)

The first mammalian MAPKs identified was the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK1/ERK2) (Calvo et al., 2010). The ERKs are activated, by pro-inflammatory stimuli including cytokines such as TNF α , and PAMPs, such as LPS, These mechanisms of ERK activation play an important role in innate immunity and inflammation (Potapovich et al., 2011). The ERK pathway plays a major role in cell proliferation. However there is relatively little information on the role of ERK in neuroinflammation (Wuertz et al., 2012). More recent reports have suggested the role of MAP3K tpl2/cot in ERK-mediated LPS-induced activation of macrophages. Tumour progression locus 2 (Tpl2) knockout mice displayed abrogated LPS-induced ERK activation and TNF- α release (Kawaguchi et al., 2011). ERK activation appears to modulate translocation of TNF- α mRNA from the nucleus to the cytoplasm rather than affecting transcription or stabilisation of TNF- α mRNA (Fan et al., 2010) (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3 Simplified MAPK signaling pathways.

Overview of TLR-activated MAPK signalling pathway. As a result of LPS stimulation, activated signals go down from the TLR4 to the MAPK signalling pathways p.38 ,JNK and ERK1/2 . Modified from (Murshid et al., 2015)

In chapter two of this thesis, the anti-inflammatory effects of formononetin in LPS activated BV2 microglia was described. Furthermore, NF- κ B and MAPK signalling pathways are known to be two of the most important signalling pathways responsible in neuroinflammation (Oh et al., 2013; He et al., 2016; Santa-Cecília et al., 2016). In addition, activation of both NF- κ B and MAPK signalling pathways results marked

production of pro-inflammatory mediators (Awada et al., 2014; Lai et al., 2017). Therefore, the experiments described in this chapter was aimed at evaluating whether formononetin inhibits neuroinflammation through modulation of the NF- κ B and MAPK signalling pathways.

3.2. Materials and methods

3.2.1. Cell culture

3.2.1.1. BV2 cell culture

This has been described in chapter two (section 2.6.5.1)

3.2.1.2. Human embryonic kidney (HEK293) cell culture

HEK293 cells obtained from (European Collection of Cell Cultures (ECACC) were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 2 mM glutamine. Cells were split 1:3 when they reached 85–90% confluence using trypsin/EDTA in PBS.

3.2.1.3. Preparation of whole cell extracts

This has been described in chapter two (section 2.6.10.1).

3.2.1.4. Preparation of nuclear extracts

Nuclear extracts were prepared using EpiSeeker nuclear extraction kit (Abcam), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were washed with cold PBS. Thereafter, 20 μ l of pre-extraction buffer was added to the cells and incubated on ice for 10 min. This was followed by centrifugation at 12000 rpm for 1 min. Then, 10 μ l of nuclear extraction buffer was added to the resulting pellet and incubated on ice for 15 min, followed by centrifugation at 13500 rpm for 15 min at 4C°. The resulting nuclear extracts in the supernatants were collected and stored at -80C°.

3.2.2. Protein quantitation

The procedure for protein quantification was as described in chapter two (section 2.6.10.2).

3.2.3. Immunoblotting

The procedure for immunoblotting has been described in chapter two (section 2.6.11). The antibodies used in these studies are listed in Table 3.1.

Antibody	supplier	Host	Туре	Dilution
Anti-IκBα	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:250
Anti-phospho-lκBα	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:250
Anti-IKKa	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:250
Anti-phospho-IKKa	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:250
Anti-phospho-p65	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-p.38	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-phospho-p38	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-JNK	Abcam	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-phosho JNK	Abcam	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-phosho ERK1/2	Abcam	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti phospho-TAK1	Abcam	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-phospho MLK3	Abcam	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-actin	Sigma Aldrrich	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:1000

3.2.4. Reporter gene assays

Genetic reporters are employed as indicators for investigating gene expression and cellular mechanisms linked to gene expression. (Cook et al., 2018) In this regard, a reporter gene is cloned with a DNA sequence of interest into an expression vector, which is then transfected into cells. Thereafter, an assay is performed on the cells to detect the presence of the reporter through a direct measurement of the reporter protein itself or its enzymatic activity (Figure 3.4).

HEK293 cell line was used in this study as HEK293 cells have been used extensively as an expression tool for recombinant proteins since it was generated over 25 years ago (Graham et al., 1977). In this study reporter gene assay were used to investigate the effect of formononetin on NF κ B activity.

HEK293 cells were cultured in Modified Eagles medium (MEM) supplemented with 2 mM glutamine, 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). At confluence, the cells were subcultured (at a ratio of 1:3) for 24 h before transfection. Thereafter, cells were harvested and re-suspended at 4 x10⁵ cells/ml in Opti-MEM medium containing 5% FBS. Cells were seeded out in a solid white 96-well plates and incubated with 0.1 µg of pGL4.32 [luc2P/NF-kB-RE/Hygro] vector (Promega, UK), using Lipofectamine® 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) transfection reagent (diluted 1:3 in serum-free Opti-MEM) and incubated for a further 16 h at 37°C in 5% CO₂ incubator. Following transfection, the medium was changed to Opti-MEM and cells incubated for a further 8 h.

Transfected cells were treated with formononetin (2.5–10 μ M) and incubated for 30 min at 37°C followed by TNF α (1 ng/ml) for 6 h. At the end of the stimulation, NF κ B-mediated gene expression was measured using Dual-Glo Luciferase Assay System (Promega, Southampton, UK), according to the manufacturer's instructions. 100 μ l of luciferase assay reagent added to each well, followed by measurement of firefly luciferase activity. Thereafter 100 μ l of Stop & Glo reagent was added to each well, then renilla luciferase activity was measured using FLUOstar OPTIMA Plate reader (BMG LABTECH), and the promoter activity calculated.



Figure 3.4 Scheme for the mechanism of the dual-reporter system.

(Modified from Bronstein et al., 1994)

3.2.5. DNA binding assays

Activation of NF- κ B results in the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and other mediators involved in the neuroinflammation. LPS stimulation can induce transcription of several inflammatory genes through interactions of NF- κ B with the DNA in the microglia (Bellezzo et al., 1996; Hanamsagar et al., 2012; C. Xu et al., 2014).

Therefore, modulation of DNA binding by NF- κ B is a critical strategy in evaluation of NF- κ B pathway.

3.2.5.1. Electrophoretic mobility shift assay

Electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA) principle is that proteins with different molecular weight will have different electrophoretic mobilities in a nondenaturing gel matrix. In the case of a DNA–protein complex, the presence of DNA-binding protein will cause the DNA to migrate in a characteristic manner, usually more slowly than the free DNA, and will thus cause shift in the DNA mobility visible upon detection (Figure 2.4).





(Song et al., 2015)

Electrophoretic mobility shift assay was used to investigate the effect of formononetin on LPS-induced DNA binding of NF- κ B. Cultured BV2 cells were treated with formononetin (2.5-10 µM) for 30 minutes prior to stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml) for a further 1 h. Nuclear extracts were prepared and nuclear protein (5 µg/µl) was incubated with IRDyeTM infrared dye end-labeled oligonucleotides containing the consensus binding sequence for NF- κ B (5'-AGT TGA <u>GGG GAC TTT CCC</u> AGG C-3') (Licor Biosciences) in binding buffer (100 mM Tris, 500 mM KCl; pH 7.5, 6.25 mM MgCl2, 0.05 mM EDTA, 1% Nonidet P-40, 25 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 2.5% tween20 , and 1 µg/µl poly (dl.dC)) for 30 minutes on ice.This was followed by the addition of 2 µl of orange loading dye (IR-labeled probe).The reaction samples were separated on native polyacrylamide gel (5% TBE, Life Technologies). The gel was electrophoresed at 200 V at room temperature for approximately 1.5 hours, and imaged on the Licor Odyssey® Infrared Imaging System.

3.2.5.2. ELISA-based DNA binding assay

NF- κ B DNA binding ELISA kit contains 96-well plate with a specific double strand oligonucleotide immobilised on the well surface. NF- κ B in the nuclear extract binds specifically to this oligonucleotide, which is then quantified by adding a specific primary and secondary antibodies. The resulting colorimetric outcome can be quantified using a microplate reader (Figure 3.5). Effects of formononetin on DNA binding of NF- κ B was confirmed using an ELISA-based DNA binding assay.





(Wild et al., 2013).

Cultured BV2 microglia were treated with 2.5, 5 and 10 μ M formononetin 30 minutes prior to stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml). One hour later, nuclear extracts were prepared using EpiSeeker Nuclear Extraction Kit (Abcam), according to the manufacturer's instructions. DNA binding assay was carried on nuclear extracts using the TransAM NF- κ B transcription factor ELISA kit (Activ Motif, Belgium) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The ELISA kit employs a 96-well plate to which an oligonucleotide containing the NF- κ B consensus site ('5-GGGACTTTCC-3') has been immobilized. Briefly, 30 μ I of complete binding buffer was added to each well, followed by 20 μ g nuclear extract samples. The plate was covered and rocked (100 rpm) for 1 hour at room temperature. This was followed by the addition of NF- κ B antibody (1:1000; for 1 hour) and HRP-conjugated antibody (1:1000; for 1 hour). Absorbance was read on a Tecan F50 microplate reader at 450 nm.

3.2.6. Immunofluorescence

BV2 cells were seeded at a density of 2 x 10⁵ cell/ml in a 24-well plate. At confluence, cells were pre-treated with formononetin (10 µM) for 30 minutes followed by stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml) for various time points. After treatment, cells were fixed with ice-cold 100% methanol at -20°C for 15 minutes and washed three times with phosphate buffer saline (PBS) for 5 minutes. This was followed by blocking the non-specific binding by incubating cells in 5% BSA blocking solution (containing 10%) horse serum in 1X TBS-T) for 60 minutes at room temperature. Thereafter, the cells were incubated withanti-p65 antibody (Santa Cruz) diluted 1:100 overnight at 4°C.Following the incubation, cells were washed three times with PBS and incubated for 2 hours in the dark with Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody (Life Technologies; 1:500) using 5% BSA blocking buffer Cells were then washed with PBS and counterstained with 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole DAPI (Invitrogen) at concentration of 100µM for three minutes. Cells were rinsed with PBS, the excess buffer was removed and gold antifade reagent (Invitrogen) was added. Fluorescence images were acquired using EVOS® FLoid® cell imaging station.

3.3. Results

3.3.1.1. Formononetin inhibits neuroinflammation through modulation of NF- κ B signalling

To determine whether formononetin shows any general effect on NF- κ B-mediated gene transcription, a luciferase reporter gene assay was used. HEK293 cells were transfected with a vector bearing NF- κ B regulated luciferase reporter construct. The cells were then stimulated with TNF α (1 ng/ml) to activate NF- κ B gene transcription in the presence or absence of formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M). The experiment showed significant levels of NF- κ B activation on cells stimulated with TNF α . However, cells treated with formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) significantly (p<0.001) inhibited TNF α -induced NF- κ B activation (Figure 3.6a).

Further experiments were carried out to show that formononetin prevented LPSinduced DNA binding by NF- κ B. Two different techniques were used-EMSA and ELISA-based DNA binding assay. BV2 cells were treated with formononetin (2.5, 5 and10 μ M) followed by stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 1 hour. At the end of the incubation, nuclear extracts were collected followed by an ELISA-based DNA binding assay. Formononetin significantly (p<0.001) inhibited DNA binding activity of NF- κ B (Figure 3.6b).

The same nuclear extracts were used for EMSA assay. Formononetin (2.5, 5 and10 μ M) reduced NF- κ B DNA binding activity compared with LPS-stimulated BV2 microglia in this assay (Figure 3.6c). All these results suggested that formononetin could interfere with multiple steps in the signalling pathway involving NF- κ B in BV2 microglia.

57



Figure 3.7 Formononetin inhibited NF- κ B activity and DNA binding of NF- κ B in LPS-stimulated BV2 microglia.

(a)TNF α -induced NF-kB-dependent gene expression in HEK 293 cells was inhibited by formononetin. Transfected cells were incubated with formononetin (2.5-10 μ M) followed by stimulation with TNF α (1 ng/ml) for an additional 6 h. Luminescence was then measured.(b)Nuclear extracts from cells were added to 96-well plates to which an oligonucleotide containing the NF- κ B consensus site (5'-GGGACTTTCC-3') has been immobilised, followed by addition of NF- κ B and HRP-conjugated antibodies. Absorbance was read on a microplate reader. (c)Nuclear extract was collected followed by EMSA.
3.3.1.2. Formononetin blocks IKK/ I kappa B phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of p65 in LPS-activated BV2 microglia.

Inactive NF- κ B exists in the cytoplasm as a complex with inhibitor of kappa B (I κ B α) protein. Following an inflammatory stimulus such as LPS, this complex is phosphorylated by $I\kappa B$ kinase (IKK), resulting in the translocation of active NF- κB to the nucleus. In this study, the effect of formononetin on this process in LPS-activated BV2 microglia was studied. BV2 cells were pre-treated with formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) for 30 min, followed by LPS (100 ng/ml) stimulation for a further 60 min. Using western blotting, it was observed that stimulation of BV2 microglia with LPS resulted in an increase in the phosphorylation of IKK compared to the unstimulated control cells. Whereas cells pre-treated with formononetin (2.5 µM) showed about 20% reduction of phosphorylated IKK compared to LPS stimulated cells .The degree of reduction increased to 35 % in cells treated with formononetin (5 µM) reaching 50% in pre-treated cells with (10 μ M) formononetin. (Figure 3.7a). Further, western blot experiments were performed to investigate the effect of formononetin on the phosphorylation of IkBa. LPS stimulated BV2 cells had higher levels of phospho-IkB compared with unstimulated control cells. However, pre-treated cells with formononetin (10 µM) significantly (p<0.001) inhibited LPS-induced phosphorylation of IxB. This was accompanied by a concentration-dependent inhibition of IxB degradation (Figure 3.7 b, c).

Further experiments were performed to study the effects of the compound on nuclear translocation of the p65 sub-unit in LPS-stimulated BV2 microglia. Cells were pretreated with formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) for 30 minfollowed by LPS stimulation for 60 min. Then nuclear cell extracts were collected followed by western blot to detect phosphorylated p65. A significant elevation in the levels of phosphorylated p65 in LPS stimulated BV2 was observed in comparison with unstimulated cells. However, formononetin (5 and 10 μ M) produced significant inhibition (p<0.001) of nuclear translocation of the p65 sub-unit following stimulation of the cells with LPS (Figure 3.7c). These observations were confirmed using immunofluorescence imaging which showed a decrease in p65 sub-unit in LPS-stimulated BV2 microglia which were pre-treated with formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) (Figure 3.7 d). a)





d)

c)





Figure 3.8 Effect of formononetin on IKK/IxB and nuclear translocation of p65 in LPS-activated BV2 microglia.

Formononetin attenuated phosphorylation of IKK α (a) as well as phosphorylation and degradation of IxB α (b and c) in LPS stimulated BV-2 cells. BV2 cells were pre-treated for 30 minutes with formononetin (2.5-10 μ M) prior to stimulation with LPS, and then incubated for another 1 hour. At the end of the incubation, whole cell extracts were collected and western blot performed to measure total and phospho-IKK α and phospho-IKK α , phsopho- and total IkB α . Induced p65 subunit nuclear translocation was significantly inhibited by formononetin (2.5, 5 and10 μ M) for 30 min and then activated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 60 min, followed by western blot (d) Localisation of NF- κ B p65 was visualised with fluorescence microscopy after immunofluorescence staining with NF- κ B p65 antibody (green). Cells were stained with DAPI to visualize nuclei (blue) (e).

3.3.2. Inhibition of MAPKs contributed to inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin

This study assessed the effect of formononetin on LPS-induced phosphorylation of p38, JNK and ERK in BV2 microglial cells. BV2 cells were treated with formononetin (2.5, 5.0 and 10 μ M) and incubated for 30 min, followed by stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml), and incubation for a further 1 h. At the end of the incubation, whole cell lysates were collected and western blot was performed to detect p38, JNK and ERK.

Exposure of BV2 cells to LPS for 1 h significantly increased the levels of phosphorylated p38 compared to unstimulated control cells. However, pre-treatment with formononetin (2.5, 5.0 and 10 μ M) markedly (p<0.001) reduced the phosphorylation levels p38 compared to LPS control cells (Figure 3.8 a).

Stimulated BV2 cell with LPS (100 ng/ml) for one hour showed a significant elevation in phosphorylated JNK when compared with un-stimulated cells.However pretreatment with formononetin (2.5, 5.0 and 10 μ M) showed significant (p<0.001) reduction in p-JNK in LPS stimulated BV2 cells (Figure 3.8 b). Further results revealed that LPS (100 ng/ml) activation of BV2 microglia resulted in an increasing the phosphorylation of ERK1/2, whereas formononetin (2.5, 5.0 and 10 μ M) significantly (p<0.001) supressed the activation of ERK1/2 in dose dependent manner (Figure 3.8 c).These results demonstrate that LPS induces activation of p38, JNK and ERK; these effects were prevented with formononetin treatment.



b)



a)

c)



Figure 3.9 Effect of formononetin on MAPK in BV2 cells stimulated with LPS.

Formononetin inhibited LPS (100 ng/ml) induced phosphorylation of p.p38, p.JNK and ERK in BV2 microglia. Cells were pre-treated with formononetin (2.5-10 μ M) prior to activation with LPS. At the end of the incubation, whole cell extracts were collected and western blot performed for total and phospho-p38 (a), phospho and total JNK (b) and phospho-ERK.

3.3.2.1. Formononetin supresses the activation of MLK3 in LPS stimulated BV2 cells

Mixed-lineage protein kinase 3 (MLK3) is a member of the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase kinase kinase which has been linked to the NF- κ B, as well as the ERK1/2, c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK), and p38 MAPK athways (Patrick et al., 2001; Kim et al., 2004). Therefore, it becomes necessary to investigate the effect of formononetin on the activation of MLK3 in LPS stimulated BV2 microglia cells. LPS-stimulated BV2 cells expressed higher levels of phosphorylated-MLK3 compared to unstimulated control cells. On pre-treating cells with formononetin (2.5, 5.0 and 10 μ M), a significant (p<0.001) reduction in phosphorylated -MLK3 was observed (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.10 Effect of formononetin in MLK3 phosphorylation in LPS activated BV2 microglia.

Formononetin inhibited LPS (100 ng/ml) -induced MLK3 phosphorylation in BV2 microglia. Cells were pre-treated with formononetin (2.5-10 μ M) in the presence or absence of LPS (100 ng/ml) and incubated for 30 min. Western blot was performed for phospho-MLK3.

3.3.3. Foromononetin inhibited the activation of TAK1 on LPS stimulated BV2 cell.

Activation of both transcription factors NF- κ B and activating protein-1 (AP-1) signalling pathways is through a common upstream kinase transforming growth factor- β -activated kinase 1 (TAK1) (Sakurai et al., 1998; Cejas et al., 2010). TAK1 was originally identified as a mitogen-activated kinase kinase kinase (MAP3K) activated by transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) (Yamaguchi et al., 1995). However, it has been characterised as a key regulator in inflammatory and immune signaling pathways such as NF- κ B and MAPK (Sato et al., 2005; Sakurai, 2012; Goldmann et al., 2013). TAK-1 can be considered as a convergent target protein activating both NF- κ B and MAPK

signalling pathways. Therefore, it was thought to investigate the effects of formononetin on TAK1 activation on LPS activated BV2 microglia.

Stimulation of BV2 microglia with LPS resulted in a marked expression of TAK1 protein, compared to un-stimulated control cells. However, cells pre-treated with formononetin (, 5.0 and 10 μ M) showed significantly (p<0. 01) reduced levels of TAK1 phosphorylation (Figure 3.10).



Figure 3.11 Effects of formononetinon TAK1 phosphorylation.

BV2 cells were pre-treated with indicated concentrations of formononetin for 30 minutes prior to incubation of LPS (100 ng/mL) for 30 min. p-TAK1 was determined by western blot. Each immunoreactive band was digitised and expressed as a ratio of β -actin levels.

3.4. Discussion

NF- κ B plays an important role in sustaining the inflammatory response (Pugazhenthi et al., 2013). Based on the results highlighted in chapter two of the thesis, which demonstrate inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin, it became necessary to investigate whether inhibition of NF- κ B contributed to the molecular mechanism of action of the compound.

Results with HEK293 transfected with NF- κ B-bearing luciferase vector plasmid revealed suppression of TNF α -induced activation of the NF- κ B-driven luciferase expression, suggesting that this compound inhibited NF- κ B-dependent gene expression in general. Further experiments in BV2 microglia stimulated with LPS revealed that formononetin blocked critical steps involving IKK-mediated phosphorylation and degradation of I κ B, nuclear translocation as well as DNA binding of NF- κ B. These observations have clearly demonstrated that formononetin prevented the release of pro-inflammatory mediators in BV2 microglia by targeting multiple steps in NF- κ B signalling following stimulation with LPS. Formononetin was shown to produce similar NF- κ B inhibitory activity in other cells. The compound was reported to prevent apoptosis induced by IL-1 β in the rat INS-1 cells through inhibition of NF- κ B (Wang et al., 2012). Similar NF- κ B inhibitory activity of the compound was reported in retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) (Jia et al., 2014).

The Inflammatory process following NF- κ B activation has been closely linked to the onset of various neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease (Zhao et al., 2014) and Parkinson's disease (Anitua et al., 2015). Emerging evidence suggests that inflammatory responses contribute to the progress of AD, accelerating the course of the disease. Interestingly, the non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) used to reduce inflammation have been shown to inhibit the activation of NF- κ B in AD (Altinoz et al., 2004; Deardorff et al., 2017). Natural compounds could also inhibit neuroinflammation by inhibiting NF- κ B activity. Examples of such compounds are curcumin (Ambegaokar et al., 2003), resveratrol (Capiralla et al., 2012), pterostilbene (Capiralla et al., 2012), punicalagin (Xu et al., 2014), macranthoin G (Hu et al., 2014), and salidroside (Gao et al., 2015).

The results from this study and evidence from previously published data on formononetin clearly demonstrated that the compound could block pro-inflammatory NF- κ B activation in many cells of the body, including brain microglia. Furthermore, inhibition of microglia NF- κ B suggested that this compound could be a useful scaffold for novel NF- κ B inhibitors for neurodegenerative disorders.

The MAPKs signalling molecules p38, JNK and ERK1/2 play important roles in inflammatory processes (Kyriakis et al., 2012). Specifically, p38 MAPK signalling is strongly linked to neuroinflammation (Fan et al., 2013). Accumulating evidence indicates that p38 plays multiple roles in AD pathophysiology and that patients suffering from AD could benefit from p38 MAPK inhibitors (Munoz et al., 2010). Recent studies have demonstrated that p38 MAPK is capable of mediating neuroinflammation in AD. Consequently, the inhibition of p38 MAPK is proposed as a critical strategy in AD drug development (Lee et al., 2017). Results from this study show an inhibition in LPS-induced activation of p38 MAPK in BV2 microglia. This outcome showed that inhibition of p38 could potentially contribute to anti-neuroinflammatory activity by formononetin. It could also be concluded that this activity of the compound could be useful in AD treatment.

Formononetin was also shown to block the activation of both JNK and ERK1/2 MAPKs in LPS-activated BV2 microglia. This was a significant outcome as JNK is known to mediate LPS-induced neuroinflammation and white matter injury (Wang, et al., 2012). Also, regulating ERK1/2 activation is known to be important in A β -induced neuroinflammation in BV2 microglia (Yu et al., 2017). Similar phytoestrogens have been reported to target JNK and ERK1/2 activation in different models (Liu et al., 2014; W. Wang et al., 2015; Lim et al., 2017; Park et al., 2017).

Mixed lineage kinase 3 is expressed in immune effector cells including microglia in the CNS and is activated by cellular and metabolic stress (Dong et al., 2016). Inhibition of MLK3 is a potential strategy for inhibiting neuroinflammation (Ronkina et al., 2010), as it is an important upstream regulator of p38 and JNK MAPKs which have been shown to play major roles in neuroinflammation and neuronal apoptosis (Lin et al., 2013). Results showed that formononetin significantly inhibited the activation of MLK3 induced by LPS in BV2 microglia, which might account for the effects of the compound on p38, and JNK MAPKs. Biochanin-A, a related compound to formononetin, was

69

previously shown to prevent UV-induced COX-2 expression by targeting MLK3 in Human HaCaT cells (Lim et al., 2013). These related phytoestrogens might be acting upstream to block events resulting in the release of inflammatory mediators.

TAK1 is a member of the MAPK kinase kinase, which functions as an upstream signalling molecule of NF- κ B and MAPKs. Activated TAK1 complex phosphorylates IKK, which activates NF- κ B. It was therefore hypothesised that targeting TAK1 activation might be an attractive strategy to treat inflammatory responses (Endale et al., 2017). In this study, LPS-induced TAK1 phosphorylation was significantly inhibited by formononetin. It could therefore be postulated that the suppression of LPS-induced TAK1 activity by formononetin might be responsible, in part, for its inhibition of both NF- κ B and MAPK signalling pathways.

These findings demonstrated that formononetin could inhibit the production of pro-inflammatory factors in LPS-activated BV2 microglia through dual inhibition of NF- κ B and MAPK signalling. This activity of the compound might be related to its ability to target the upstream TAK1 in the microglia (Figure 3.11). This study did not verify these actions of the compound *in vivo*. Further studies would therefore be needed to establish both NF- κ B and MAPK inhibition in different transgenic (NF- κ B knockout) models of neuroinflammation.



Figure 3.12 Scheme concluding the Molecular mechanisms underlying the antiinflammatory activities of formononetin in LPS activated BV2 microglial cells.

Chapter Four

The role of oestrogen receptor beta (ERβ) activation in the inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin in LPS-activated BV2 microglia

4.1. Introduction

4.1.1. Oestrogen and neuroinflammation

The role of oestrogens in various physiological and pathophysiological mechanisms is dependent on their ability to bind to oestrogen receptors and promote activation of transcription of oestrogen responsive genes (Hewitt et al., 2016; Coyoy et al., 2016). Two different oestrogen receptor (ER) subtypes, are known: ER α , the first ER discovered, and ER β , which was discovered in 1996 (Kuiper et al., 1997; Lin et al., 2004). The tissue distribution patterns of ER α and ER β are quite different. ER β is more highly expressed than ER α in the prostate, ovary, colon, urinary tract, and some brain regions (Gong et al., 2014).

Anti-neuroinflammatory effects of oestrogens and related compounds have demonstrated in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and multiple sclerosis (MS) (Vegeto et al., 2001; Tiwari-Woodruff et al., 2007; Gold et al., 2009; Glass & Saijo, 2010).

4.1.2. Mechanisms of action of oestrogen

After diffusion through the plasma membrane, oestrogen can activate the transcription of their target genes by various signalling pathways, genomic or extragenomic (Figure 4.1) (Cornil et al., 2015)

4.1.2.1. The classic mechanism: ERE-dependent genomic transcriptional activity

In the absence of a ligand, the receptor for oestrogen is in monomeric form, complexed with chaperone proteins, Heat Shock Proteins (HSP) HSP70 and HSP90 located in the nucleus or cytoplasm. Binding of a ligand results in a change in conformation of the receptor, which dissociates HSPs, dimerises with another receptor and transferred to the nucleus (Stender et al., 2010). The dimer can then bind to ERE upstream of the target genes and activate transcription (McKenna et al., 2002). Depending on the cell type and promoters involved, the receiver can then engage in a stimulatory or inhibitory activity vis-a-vis the expression of target genes (Tora et al., 1989).

4.1.2.2. Genomic transcriptional activity not related to ERE

The oestrogen receptor is capable of inducing transcription of genes lacking ERE sequence, by indirect binding of the DNA, through interaction with a complex formed by two transcription factors fos and jun also known as AP-1 (Wu et al., 2008). This signalling pathway is involved in the transcription of genes such IGF-1 (Insulin-like Growth Factor-1). The expression of certain genes containing promoter GC-rich sequences bases is activated through interaction with SP1 complex (Stimulating Protein 1) (Hall et al., 2001).

4.1.2.3. Independent transcriptional activity of the ligand

In parallel with a hormone-dependent activation, the oestrogen receptor may be modulated by extracellular signals, in the absence of E2 such as Growth factors (Epidermal Growth Factor) and IGF-1 they are able to activate the receptor and induce expression of target genes (Ignar et al., 1995).

4.1.2.4. Activation from a receiver located in the membrane

Besides the genomic effects, there are effects called "non-genomic", and although they may be at the origin of transcriptional effects and occurring within seconds or minutes after the addition of E2. These effects are mediated through activation of kinases and phosphatases. The membrane receptor is localized in caveolae-associated with proteins as caveolin (Evinger et al., 2005). It has been proposed that the location membrane receptor is permitted through post-translational modifications in particularly the S-palmitoylation of cysteine 447 (Marino et al., 2006). The link ligand involves various signalling cascades such as the activation of MAP kinases, 3-phosphatidyl-inositol kinase (PI3K), phospholipase C (PLC) of protein kinase C (PKC), of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) or the path of EGFR (Epidermal growth factor receptor) (Levin, 2002).

Oestrogen is indeed able to activate the EGF receptor from stimulating of ERα membrane, leading to the release of EGF. The ERα addressed the cytoplasmic membrane is coupled to a G protein and activates, via the Src protein, the Metalloproteinases MMP-2, and MMP-9, which freed the heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF). The latter will then induce the phosphorylation of its receptor (EGFR) and thereby activate the signalling pathway ERK / MAPK. Activation of EGFR

induces activation cascade of kinases (Razandi et al., 2003). This is one of the nongenomic effects of ER α (Levin, 2003). In addition to these mechanisms of action, in absence of E2, ER α is capable of modulating cell growth and differentiation. For example, ER α inhibits neuronal growth by down-regulation of the MAPK and PI3K / Akt.



Figure 4.1 Mechanism of action of oestrogen receptors.

- 1. Classic mechanism of action (direct): after activation by the ligand receptor dimers bind DNA at specific sequences (ERE).
- 2. Mechanism of action independent ERE (indirect): the receptor dimers bind to DNA via protein interactions.
- **3.** Mechanism of ligand-independent action: growth factors activating kinases that phosphorylate the receptors and attach to the DNA at specific sequences (ERE).
- **4.** Non-genomic mechanism of action localized to the membrane receptors activated kinases, leading to rapid changes in cytoplasmic proteins or to transcriptional regulation.

Modified from (Reid et al., 2002) and (Heldring et al., 2007).

4.1.3. Oestrogen and selective oestrogen receptor modulation

Some studies indicate that oestrogen produces anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects (Ramien et al., 2016). However, there is a risk of tumours, heart disease, stroke and blood clots associated with oestrogen treatment (Medicine, 2004). This has refocused in the selective oestrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) in the therapeutics of neurodegenerative diseases (Bernardi et al., 2003; Pullman, 2003). SERMs, such as tamoxifen and raloxifene, are molecules which bind with high affinity to oestrogen receptors (ERs), acting as oestrogen agonists in some tissue such as bone, liver, and uterine cells and as antagonists in others such as breast (Jordan, 2003; Wood et al., 2003). These agonist/antagonist profiles for individual SERMs may differ also among brain areas (Zhou et al., 2002). Both of the known oestrogen receptors, ER α and ER β , exist in microglial cells (Keller et al., 2000), and are thought to mediate classic receptor-mediated responses.

Oestrogen exerts anti-inflammatory activity via ER α and ER β on activated macrophages and activated microglial cells (Dodel et al., 1999; Drew et al., 2000; Keller et al., 2000; Vegeto et al., 2004; Lewis et al., 2008). There is a general agreement on the ability of oestrogens to limit the microglia proinflammatory status after short exposure to bacterial lysates (Kim, 2016), and viruses (Vrachnis et al., 2014). The hypothesis of the anti-inflammatory potential of oestrogen was based initially on the *in vitro* observation that 17-estradiol prevented the morphological changes induced by LPS and the concomitant synthesis of proinflammatory molecules , such as matrix metalloproteinase 9, prostaglandin E2, iNOS with reactive oxygen species production (Paradkar et al., 2017).

Phytoestrogens are a diverse group of plant-derived non-steroidal structural analogues of mammalian oestrogens that can bind to oestrogen receptors (ERs) and exert estrogenic or anti- estrogenic activities (Setchell, 1998; Andres et al., 2012). Interestingly, the soy isoflavones, such as daidzein and genistein, were among the first compounds noted to be ligands with selective affinity for ER β (Meyers et al., 2001; Muthyala et al., 2004). Another study yielded a novel phytoestrogenic formulation by combining three phytoestrogens genistein, daidzein, and equol referred to as the phyto- β -SERM formulation, which exhibits an 83-fold binding selectivity for the oestrogen receptor subtype β (ER β) over ER α (Zhao, 2013). The relatively selective

76

binding of phytoestrogens to ER β indicated that they might produce clinical effects distinct from oestrogens by either selectively or differentially triggering ER β -mediated transcriptional activation or repression pathways.

BV2 microglia cell line naturally expresses ER β but not ER α (Baker et al., 2004). These studies were designed to test the hypothesis that formononetin exerts antiinflammatory effects in BV2 microglia cells, specifically via interactions with ER β .

4.2. Materials and methods

4.2.1. Cell culture

4.2.1.1. BV2 cell culture

BV2 cells were cultured as described in chapter two (Section 2.6.5.1).

4.2.1.2. Human embryonic kidney (HEK293) cell culture

HEK293 cells were cultured as described in chapter three (Section 3.6.1.2).

4.2.2. Preparation of whole cell extracts

This was carried out as described in chapter two (Section 2.6.10.1).

4.2.3. Preparation of nuclear extracts

This was carried out as described in chapter three (Section 3.2.4.1).

4.2.4. Protein quantitation

This was carried out as described in chapter two (Section 2.6.10.2).

4.2.5. Immunoblotting

The procedure for immunoblotting has been described in chapter two (section 2.6.11). The antibodies used in these studies are listed in Table 4.1.

Antibody	supplier	Host	Туре	Dilution
Anti-ERα	Abcam	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-ERβ	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-phospho-p65	Santa Cruz	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500
Anti-actin	Sigma Aldrrich	Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:1000

Table 4.1Primary antibodies used with details of resources and dilution factor used.

4.2.6. Reporter gene assays

This procedure was similar to that described in chapter three (section 3.2.4), with some modifications. The vector used in this case was the Cignal ERE Reporter (luc) (sabiosciences). ERE reporter kit is designed to monitor the activity of oestrogen receptor-induced signal transduction pathways in cultured cells.

4.2.7. Determination of nitrite production (Griess assay).

Griess assay was performed as described in chaper two (section 2.6.7).

4.2.8. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for TNF- α detection.

This was carried out as described in chapter two (section 2.6.8).

4.2.9. Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) detection enzyme immunoassay (EIA).

This was carried out as described in chapter two (section 2.6.9).

4.2.10. Immunofluorescence

This was carried out as described in chapter two (section 2.6.13) .In this case after the blocking step cells were incubated with (anti-ER α (Abcam), anti-ER β (Santa Cruz), and anti-p65 antibody (Santa Cruz)) diluted 1:100 using PBS, following overnight incubation at 4°C.

4.2.11. ERβ siRNA transfection

Small interfering RNA (siRNA) is a double-stranded RNA composed of 19~22 nucleotides. When transfected into cells, siRNAs are associated with a protein complex called RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) which unwind the double-stranded and recruits targeted mRNA leading to cleavage and subsequently degraded (Figure 4.2).

RNA interference (RNAi) is the best way to effectively knock down gene expression to study protein function. To confirm whether oestrogen receptor beta (ER β) contributed to the anti-inflammatory actions of formononetin in LPS-activated BV2 microglia, ER β -siRNA was used in investigations.



Figure 4.2 mechanism of RNA interference using siRNA.

Small interference RNA (siRNA) is incorporated into RISC, followed by unwinding of the double-stranded molecule by the helicase activity of RISC. The sense strand of siRNA is removed and the antisense strand recruits targeted mRNA, which is cleaved by RISC and subsequently degraded by cellular nucleases. Modified from (Meister et al., 2004).

Small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) targeted at ER_β (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) were used to silence ERß gene. BV2 cells were cultured in 96 well plate at density of 2x10⁵/ml using antibiotic-free (penicillin and streptomycin) RPMI1640 medium, and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator until 50% confluent. Thereafter, medium was changed to Opti-MEM reduced serum medium (Thermo Fisher). Then, in an Eppendorf tube (Tube A), 2 μl of ERβ siRNA duplex were diluted into 100 μl of Opti-MEM reduced serum medium. In another tube (Tube B), 2 µl of lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent (Thermo Fisher) was diluted into 100 µl of Opti-MEM reduced serum medium. The dilutions were mixed gently and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. Next, the contents of tube B were transferred to tube A to prepare the transfection cocktail, which was then incubated for 30 min at room temperature. Next 200 μl of ERβ siRNA transfection cocktail was added to each well and incubated for 6 h at 37°C. Control BV2 microglia was transfected with control siRNA duplex. Following transfection, media was changed in ERß siRNA and control siRNA-transfected cells to complete media and incubated for a further 18 h. Thereafter, cells were treated with formononetin (10 µM), followed by LPS (100 ng/ml). Levels of nitrite, PGE2,andTNFa were measured in culture supernatants of both ER_β-silenced and control cells. In addition, protein expression of NFκBp65 sub-unit was measured using immunofluorescence. Transfection efficiency was determined by preparing whole cell extract from both control siRNA and ERβ-siRNA-transfected BV2 cells, and western blot carried out to measure levels of ER β protein.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Effect of formononetin on luciferase-mediated oestrogen-response element activity

In order to investigate the effects of formononetin on ERE-reporter gene activity, HEK293 cells were transfected with ERE reporter plasmid (Cignal ERE Reporter (luc) (Sabiosciences), and then treated with formononetin (2.5, 5.0 and 10µM). Relative luciferase activities were shown as fold change of treated cells. Results revealed that in comparison with control BV2 cells treated with formononetin showed a 5~fold and significantly (p<0.001) increased ERE transcriptional activity when the concentration of the compound 10 μ M (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3 Effects of formononetin in the oestrogen-response element ERE transcription activity

Formononetin -induced ERE-dependent gene expression in HEK 293 cells. HEK293 cells were transfected with ERE reporter. After 16 hours of transfection, medium was changed to assay medium (Opti-MEM). After 24 h cells were treated with formononetin (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) for 6 hours. Dual Luciferase assay was performed, and promoter activity values are expressed as arbitrary units using a Renilla reporter for internal normalization.

4.4. BV2 microglia cells express high levels of ER β compared to ER α

To establish whether formononetin has a modulatory action on oestrogen receptors (ER α and ER β) in BV2 microglia, whole cell lysates were analysed using immunobloting to detect both ER α and ER β expression. Results in Figure 4.4a show that BV2 microglia expressed ~five times higher ER β protein than ER α . The expression of ER β in BV2 cells was further confirmed with immunofluorescence (Figure 4.4b).



Figure 4.4 Oestrogen receptors ERs expression in BV2 microglia cells.

Identification of ER proteins in BV2 cells by immunoblotting analysis using whole cell extract showed that BV2 microglia express five times more ER β than ER α (a), which was confirmed by double-fluorescence imaging (b).

4.4.1. Effects of formononetin on ERβ expression in BV2 microglia

To investigate if formononetin increase the level of ER β protein in BV2 microglia, the cells were treated with different concentrations of the compound followed by immunoblotting to detect ER β protein. Result show significant (p<0.01) increase in the level of ER β protein with 5.0 and 10 µM concentrations of formononetin, compared to untreated cells (Figure 4.5 a). In addition, double-fluorescence imaging for ER β expression in BV2 microglia treated with formononetin (2.5, 5.0 and 10 µM) showed an increase in the expression of ER β compared to untreated control cells (Figure 4.5 b).



a)



Figure 4.5 Formononetin activate the expression of oestrogen receptor beta (ER β) in BV2 microglia cells.

(a)Formononetin increased the expression of ER β in BV2 microglia cells. BV2 cells were treated with formononetin (2.5, 5.0 and 10 μ M), followed by immunoblotting for ER β (b) The expression of ER β was evaluated by immunofluorescence analysis.

4.4.2. Effects of formononetin on nitrite, PGE₂ and TNF α production in the presence of (ER β) siRNA in LPS-activated BV2 microglia

In earlier experiments, it was shown that formononetin suppressed the release of proinflammatory mediators NO, TNF α and PGE₂ in LPS-stimulated BV2 microglia. Consequently, experiments were performed to find out whether ER β contributed to these effects.

The effect of formononetin (10 μ M) on nitrite production in ER β siRNA-transfected BV2 microglia was investigated, and results show an increase in nitrite production in control siRNA cells stimulated with LPS compared to unstimulated control siRNA cells. However, control siRNA transfected BV2 cells which were pre-treated with formononetin (10 μ M) followed by LPS stimulation produced ~ 50% nitrite in comparison with cells stimulated with LPS alone. In the ER β siRNA transfected cells, which were pre-treated with formononetin (10 μ M) there was no inhibition of nitrite production, when compared with control siRNA cells treated with same concentration of formononetin (Figure 4.6a). These suggested that formononetin mightbe suppressing NO production in LPS-activated BV2 microglia through mechanisms linked to ER β .

The effects of formononetin (10 μ M) on TNF α and PGE₂ production were also evaluated in the presence and absence of ER β gene.

In control siRNA-transfected BV2 cells, which were stimulated with LPS there was a marked release of PGE₂ compared with unstimulated cells. This increase was attenuated when cells were treated with formononetin (10 μ M). However, formononetin (10 μ M) did not affect the production of PGE₂ in ER β siRNA-transfected BV2 cells (Figure 4.6b).

In addition, the results revealed that formononetin inhibited the production of TNF α in LPS-stimulated control siRNA transfected BV2 cells, however, the same concentration of formononetin (10 μ M) lost its ability to suppress the production of TNF α in the absence of ER β when compared with control cells (Figure 4.6c). These results suggest that the activation of ER β might contribute to the suppression of pro-inflammatory mediators in LPS-activated BV2 microglial by formononetin.

86



b)



a)



Figure 4.6 Effects of formononetin in nitrite production in the absence of oestrogen receptor beta (ER β) in LPS-activated BV2 microglia.

Formononetin attenuated nitrite, TNF α and PGE2 production in control siRNA LPS-activated BV2 microglia but not in the ER β siRNA cells .Control siRNA and ER β siRNA transfected BV2 microglia were incubated in medium containing formononetin (10 μ M) for 30 min and then stimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 24 h. (a) Formononetin diminished nitrite production in the control siRNA and not in ER β siRNA BV2 microglia. Formononetin did not reduce PGE2 production (b), and TNF α (c), in ER β siRNA LPS-activated BV2 microglia. (d) Western blot showing ER- β siRNA transfection efficiency.

4.4.3. Effects of formononetin in localisation of NF- κ B p65 in the absence of oestrogen receptor beta (ER β) in LPS-activated BV2 microglia.

In order to understand whether ER β contributed to the NF- κ B inhibitory activity of formononetin in LPS-activated BV2 microglia, immunofluorescence experiments were carried out on cells ,which were transfected with control siRNA or ER β siRNA followed by treatment with formononetin (10 μ M) for 30 min, and then stimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 60 min. At the end of the incubation, cells were stained with antibodies anti-NF- κ B p65 antibody. As shown in Figure 4.7, immunofluorescence images revealed that NF- κ B p65 was sequestered in the cytoplasm (untreated panel). Furthermore, nuclear accumulation of NF- κ B p65 was markedly induced after stimulation with LPS (LPS panel). However, LPS-induced translocation of NF- κ B p65 was abolished after pre-treating the cells with formononetin (10 μ M) (formononetin panel). On transfecting cells with ER β siRNA, there was a marked reversal of the anti-inflammatory effect of formononetin on nuclear translocation of NF- \Box B p65, as shown by an increase in NF \Box B p65 nuclear translocation compared to control siRNA transfected BV2 cells (Formononetin ER β siRNA panel).



Figure 4.7 Effects of formononetin in localization of NF-κB p65 in the absence of oestrogen receptor beta (ERß) in LPS-activated BV2 microglia.

Localization of NF- κ B p65 was visualised with fluorescence microscopy after immunofluorescence staining with NF- κ B p65 antibody (green). Cells were stained with DAPI to visualize nuclei (blue). Results are representative of those obtained from three independent experiments.

4.5. Discussion

Some studies showed that the biological actions of formononetin are similar to that of oestrogen (Howes et al., 2002; Wang & Han, 2012). Consequently, the hypothesis in this chapter was to establish a link between the anti-inflammatory activities of the compound in BV2 microglia and its ability to modulate the activity of microglial oestrogen receptor.

Experiments conducted with HEK293 in this study revealed that formononetin activated oestrogen response element dependent transcription. These results suggest that oestrogen responses was potentiated by formononetin through one of the two oestrogen receptors (ER α or ER β).

To establish whether formononetin has a modulatory action on protein levels of oestrogen receptors in the microglia, firstly the interest was to define the subtype of oestrogen receptors in BV2 microglia. Interestingly, the results showed that BV2 microglia expressed ER β oestrogen receptor rather than ER α . This was consistent with earlier reports showing that oestrogen reduced production of pro-inflammatory mediators from BV2 microglia through interactions with ER β (Baker et al., 2004; Wu et al., 2013).

These observations were consistent with results which showed that ER β was implicated in cell survival in the developing and aging brain, and that ER β knock-out mouse developed major brain malformations due to neuronal loss during ageing (Wang et al., 2003). Furthermore, ER β has been reported to be localised to the mitochondria of many cells including neurons, and has been suggested to play a role in neuroprotection (Yang et al., 2004). Interestingly, studies in primary astrocyte revealed that compounds which bind ER β are effective in preventing the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Lewis et al., 2008), further suggesting that this receptor has a potential role in neuroprotection.

Having established in this study that the ER β subtype of oestrogen was expressed in BV2 microglia, further experiments were conducted and revealed that formononetin increased the levels of ER β protein in BV2 microglia. Several studies have demonstrated that some phytoestrogens, such as daidzein and genistein, have been shown to be ligands at ER β (Meyers et al., 2001; Muthyala et al., 2004). In trustingly,

91

studies in both *in vitro* cell cultures and *in vivo* animal models revealed that the phyto- β -SERM formulation (genistein, daidzein,and equol) produced an 83-fold binding preference for ER β over ER α and showed neuroprotection in the brain, while being devoid of feminising activity as seen with non-selective estrogenic compounds such as 17 β -oestradiol in the reproductive system (Zhao et al., 2009; Zhao, 2013).

Following the observations which established that formononetin increased ER β protein in BV2 microglia, it became necessary to determine the role played by the receptor in the earlier observed showing inhibition of neuroinflammation by the compound in BV2 microglia (Chapters 2 and 3). Results revealed that inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin was clearly lost in the absence of ER β gene. Further investigations revealed that ER β -dependent inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin to cross talk between ER β and NF- κ B.Further investigations revealed that ER β -dependent inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin was possibly related to cross talk between ER β and NF- κ B.

Studies have shown that ER β functions as a gate-keeper for NF- κ B signalling by repressing its expression and nuclear translocation, thus regulating its signalling in prostate cancer (Mak et al., 2015). While a regulatory role of ER β on NF- κ B signalling in the microglia is unclear, it would appear from the data generated in this study that the ability of formononetin to affect the nuclear accumulation of NF- κ B depends on some sort of interaction with ER β . Interestingly, a recent study showed that the seed extract of Cicer microphyllum (which contains biochanin A, formononetin and genistein) produced ER β -mediated neuroprotective activity in Sprague Dawley rats (Sharma et al., 2017). The exact nature of the interactions between ER β and NF- κ B therefore needs further investigation. Furthermore, it would be interesting to discover the exact step in the NF- κ B signalling pathway, that is negatively affected by ER β , as this would further our knowledge on identifying novel oestrogenic compounds in neuroinflammation and/or neurodegeneration.

Chapter Five

General discussion and conclusion

5.1. Discussion

Recent studies have clearly shown that oestrogen-like compounds, which inhibit neuroinflammation, provide therapeutic opportunities in neurodegenerative disorders like AD. This study investigated the inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin in BV2 microglia stimulated with LPS, and found that the compound suppressed production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-6 and IL-1 β from the cells. Results also demonstrated an attenuation of iNOS-mediated NO and COX-2-mediated PGE₂ production from LPS-activated BV2 microglia. These results suggest that formononetin prevents neuroinflammation resulting from stimulating BV2 microglia with LPS. It also showed that pre-treatment of BV2 microglia with formononetin prevented microglia conditioned medium-induced neurotoxicity in HT22 hippocampal neurons, further suggesting that the anti-inflammatory activity of this compound could be useful in neuroinflammation-mediated neurodegeneration.

Neuroinflammation has been strongly linked to the aetiopathogenesis of neurodegenerative disorders such as AD (Leyns et al., 2017) and PD (Kaur et al., 2017). While it is widely recognised that diverse neuroinflammatory signals contribute to the pathogenesis of these conditions, results from this research suggest that the anti-inflammatory action of formononetin could be exploited in AD and PD therapeutics. Previously, formononetin isolated from various natural sources has been reported to have inhibitory effects on LPS-stimulated nitric oxide release in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells (Lai et al., 2013) as well as pro-inflammatory cytokine production in bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (W. Li et al., 2014). Furthermore, formononetin was reported to inhibit both TNF α and NO production from neuron-glia cultures and microglia-enriched cultures (Chen et al., 2008). This study confirmed these results on anti-inflammatory effects of formononetin in peripheral inflammatory cells, and showed for the first time that the compound blocks the production of a variety of pro-inflammatory mediators and proteins in BV2 microglia stimulated with LPS.

It is now widely accepted that the transcription factor, NF- κ B plays a significant role in neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. Furthermore accumulating evidence suggests that disease modifying drugs for neurodegenerative disorders which inhibit neuroinflammation act by inhibiting NF- κ B activation either directly or indirectly (Srinivasan et al., 2015). Consequently, the molecular mechanism of

94
anti-neuroinflammatory action of formononetin in BV2 microglia was elucidated by investigating its effects on important steps in the NF-κB signalling pathway.

Firstly, a reporter gene assay results showed that formononetin inhibited the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B in general. It was further established that in LPS-stimulated BV2 microglia, formononetin inhibited critical steps involving IKK-mediated phosphorylation and degradation of I κ B, nuclear translocation as well as DNA binding of NF- κ B.

Several studies have reported NF- κ B inhibitory activity of formononetin in various cellular models. Inhibition of IL-1 β -induced NO/iNOS and apoptosis in INS1 pancreatic beta cells by formononetin has been attributed to its ability to inhibit the activation of NF- κ B (Wang, 2012). Inhibition of H₂O₂-induced apoptosis in retinal ganglion cells by formononetin has also been linked to inhibition of NF- κ B activation (Jia et al., 2014). Furthermore formononetin was reported to inhibit NF- κ B signalling pathway in bone-marrow-derived macrophages stimulated with RANKL (Huh et al., 2014). Biochanin A is a closely related phytoestrogen to formononetin which has been reported to inhibit neuroinflammation in the microglia (Chen et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2015). However, this is the first report showing inhibition of neuroinflammation through NF- κ B signalling pathway in LPS-activated microglia by formononetin, and provides further evidence on the anti-neuroinflammatory potential of the compound.

Mitogen-activated protein kinases MAPK signalling pathways have been shown to regulate diverse biological functions such as proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis and inflammation in various cell types (Kyriakis et al., 2012). The role of (MAPKs) in neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative diseases is well established (Munoz et al., 2010). The major MAPK pathway subfamilies involved in the regulation of COX-2, iNOS and cytokine synthesis in LPS activated microglia are signalling proteins such as p38 MAPK, extracellular signal regulated kinases (ERK1/2) and c-jun-N terminal kinase (JNK) (Bhatia et al., 2017).

The phosphorylation of p38 MAPK induces the expression of proinflammatory molecules and is one of the important signaling pathways during inflammation (Chaves et al., 2013; Swaroop et al., 2016). Phytoestrogens have been shown to regulate the activation of p38 MAPK in different cell lines (Sobenin et al., 2016; Maxwell et al., 2017). Also several studies have suggested that some phytoestrogens block the

phosphorylation of p38 MAPK in LPS-activated BV2 microglia (Kang et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2015). These findings were confirmed in this study, which demonstrated that formononetin produced significant inhibition of p38 phosphorylation in LPS-activated BV2 microglia.

Activation of MAPKs in microglia leads to the phosphorylation of the transcription factor, cJun, which contributes to the activation of microglia via the transcription of its target genes TNF α , IL-1 β , COX-2 and MCP-1 (Waetzig et al., 2005). Furthermore, JNK has been implicated in the pathogenesis of various neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's disease (Brecht et al., 2005) and Alzheimer's disease (Colombo et al., 2007). This study has demonstrated that formononetin inhibits the phosphorylation of JNK in LPS-activated BV2 microglia. The outcome of this study is consistent with a recent study which showed that a phytoestrogen genistein protects PC12 cells from A β 25–35 induced neurotoxicity by inhibiting JNK activation (You et al., 2017). Another study showed that Biochanin A attenuates LPS-induced pro-inflammatory responses and inhibits the activation of the JNK in BV2 microglial cells (Wu et al., 2015).

There are numerous reports demonstrating that phosphorylation of ERKs, is necessary for up-regulation of iNOS and COX-2 in LPS-stimulated BV-2 cells (Oh et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2013), Kaempferol a phytoestrogen acts through ERK/MAPKs to elicit protection in a model of neuroinflammation in BV2 microglial cells (Park et al., 2011). This study showed that formononetin inhibited the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 in LPS-activated BV2 microglia. Mixed-lineage protein kinase 3 (MLK3) has been associated in multiple signaling cascades, including the extracellular signal-regulated kinase, c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK), and p38 MAP kinase pathways (Patrick et al., 2001; Kim et al., 2004). Inhibition of MLK3 is a potential strategy for treatment of neuroinflammation (Ronkina et al., 2010). This study proved that formononetin modulates the activation of MLK3, an action which may account for its impact on downstream targets, JNK and p38.

Transforming growth factor b-activated kinase 1 (TAK1) a member of the MAPK kinase kinase functions as an upstream signalling molecule of NF- κ B and MAPKs. Activated TAK1 complex phosphorylates IKK, which activates NF- κ B. It is thought that targeting TAK1 activation may be an attractive strategy to treat inflammatory responses (Endale

96

et al., 2017). Results of this study suggest that formononetin blocked TAK1 activation during neuroinflammtion, which explains its dual activities on both NF- κ B activation and MAPKs pathways.

Several studies have suggested anti-neuroinflammatory actions of oestrogens in animal models and *in vitro*. It has also been suggested that this action may account for their neuroprotective activity in the brain. However, the risk of tumours and associated with oestrogen has led to investigations of neuroprotective selective oestrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) and phytoestrogens which may act as selecetive oestrogen enzyme modulators (SEEMs). Considering the reported estrogenic nature of formononetin and results from this research, which demonstrated inhibition of neuroinflammation by the compound, the role of oestrogen receptors in its anti-inflammatory activity in the microglia was explored and proven.

The potential of formononetin in neurodegenerative disorders, either as a therapeutic entity in its own right, or as a chemical scaffold for producing novel therapeutic compounds, depends on the ability to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and act in the brain. Although this study clearly demonstrated neuroprotective activity for formononetin *in vitro*, its therapeutic potential will be further enhanced with investigations, which would provide evidence of BBB permeation.

A major limitation with oestrogenic compounds is their tendency to induce proliferation of certain cancer cells, especially breast cancer cells. In fact, some studies have aimed to establish the potential effects of formononetin on breast cancer cells. A separate line of investigation was initiated in the research group to provide further information on the question of whether formononetin could induce proliferation of human breast cancer cells and ovarian cancer cells (Figure 5.1).

97



Figure 5.1 Proposed mechanism of action of formononetin in LPS-activated BV2 microglia

5.2. Conclusion

.

These investigations have provided an enough evidence to conclude that formononetin inhibits neuroinflammation through a dual molecular targeting of NF- κ B, and possibly MAPKs signalling pathways in BV2 microglia that have been stimulated with LPS. Also, for the first time this thesis demonstrates a potential link between activation of ER β and inhibition of NF- κ B-mediated neuroinflammation by formononetin.

Published Papers and posters

Papers:

<u>EI-Bakoush, A.,</u> & Olajide, O. A. (2018). Formononetin inhibits neuroinflammation and increases estrogen receptor beta (ERβ) protein expression in BV2 microglia. International Immunopharmacology, 61, 325-337.

-Posters

-<u>ABDEL ELBAKOUSH</u>, OLUMAYOKUN OLAJIDE. Formononetin, A Phytoestrogen In Red Clover Inhibits Neuroinflammation In LPS-activated Microglia. 084P Queen Elizabeth II Conference Centre London Pharmacology 2014. <u>http://www.pa2online.org/abstract/abstract.jsp?abid=32436&kw=BV2&author=ELBA</u> <u>KOUSH&cat=-1&period=-1</u>

-<u>Abdel, E.</u> Olumayokun,O, NF- κ B-mediated inhibition of neuroinflammation by formononetin: role of ER β . 235P Queen Elizabeth II Conference Centre London Pharmacology 2015.

http://www.pa2online.org/abstract/abstract.jsp?abid=32894&kw=BV2&author=ELBA KOUSH&cat=-1&period=-1

-<u>Abdel M. Elbakoush</u> and Dr. Olumayokun A. Olajide.Formononetin Prevents Neuroinflammation-Mediated HT22 Neuronal Death. PM053 The British Neuroscience Association (BNA), Birmingham 2017.

http://meetings.bna.org.uk/bna-2017/abstracts/posters/#4

References

- Abe, K., & Matsuki, N. (2000). Measurement of cellular 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) reduction activity and lactate dehydrogenase release using MTT. *Neuroscience Research*, *38*(4), 325-329.
- Adlercreutz, H., Höckerstedt, K., Bannwart, C., Hämäläinen, E., Fotsis, T., & Bloigu, S. (1987). Association between dietary fiber, urinary excretion of lignans and isoflavonic phytoestrogens, and plasma non-protein bound sex hormones in relation to breast cancer. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry*, 28, 3.
- Allan, S. M., Tyrrell, P. J., & Rothwell, N. J. (2005). Interleukin-1 and neuronal injury. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, *5*(8), 629.
- Altinoz, M., & Korkmaz, R. (2004). NF-kB, macrophage migration inhibitory factor and cyclooxygenase-inhibitions as likely mechanisms behind the acetaminophen-and NSAID-prevention of the ovarian cancer Minireview. *Neoplasma*, *51*, 239-247.
- Ambegaokar, S. S., Wu, L., Alamshahi, K., Lau, J., Jazayeri, L., Chan, S., . . . Timiras, P. S. (2003). Curcumin inhibits dose-dependently and time-dependently neuroglial cell proliferation and growth. *Neuroendocrinology Letters*, 24(6), 469-469.
- Andres, A., Cleves, M. A., Bellando, J. B., Pivik, R., Casey, P. H., & Badger, T. M. (2012). Developmental status of 1-year-old infants fed breast milk, cow's milk formula, or soy formula. *Pediatrics*, 129(6), 1134-1140.
- Anitua, E., Pascual, C., Pérez-Gonzalez, R., Orive, G., & Carro, E. (2015). Intranasal PRGF-Endoret enhances neuronal survival and attenuates NF-κB-dependent inflammation process in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 203, 170-180.
- Ankam, S., Lim, C. K., & Yim, E. K. (2015). Actomyosin contractility plays a role in MAP2 expression during nanotopography-directed neuronal differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. *Biomaterials*, 47, 20-28.
- Auyeung, Ka-Wai, K., Law, P.-C., & Ko, J. K.-S. (2012). Novel anti-angiogenic effects of formononetin in human colon cancer cells and tumor xenograft. *Oncology Reports*, 28(6), 2188-2194.
- Auyeung, K. K.-W., Law, P.-C., & Ko, J. K.-S. (2012). Novel anti-angiogenic effects of formononetin in human colon cancer cells and tumor xenograft. *Oncology Reports*, 28(6), 2188-2194.
- Awada, R., Saulnier-Blache, J. S., Grès, S., Bourdon, E., Rondeau, P., Parimisetty, A., . . . d'Hellencourt, C. L. (2014). Autotaxin downregulates LPS-induced microglia activation and pro-inflammatory cytokines production. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 115(12), 2123-2132.
- Baker, A. E., Brautigam, V. M., & Watters, J. J. (2004). Estrogen modulates microglial inflammatory mediator production via interactions with estrogen receptor β . *Endocrinology*, *145*(11), 5021-5032.
- Barton, G. M. (2008). A calculated response: control of inflammation by the innate immune system. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *118*(2), 413.
- Bedell, S., Nachtigall, M., & Naftolin, F. (2014). The pros and cons of plant estrogens for menopause. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 139, 225-236.
- Bellezzo, J. M., Britton, R. S., Bacon, B. R., & Fox, E. S. (1996). LPS-mediated NF-kappa beta activation in rat Kupffer cells can be induced independently of CD14. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 270(6), G956-G961.
- Belvin, M. P., & Anderson, K. V. (1996). A conserved signaling pathway: the Drosophila tolldorsal pathway. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*, *12*(1), 393-416.

- Berenbaum, F. (2004). Signaling transduction: target in osteoarthritis. *Current Opinion in Rheumatology*, 16(5), 616-622.
- Bernardi, F., Pluchino, N., Stomati, M., Pieri, M., & Genazzani, A. (2003). CNS: sex steroids and SERMs. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 997(1), 378-388.
- Bhatia, H. S., Roelofs, N., Muñoz, E., & Fiebich, B. L. (2017). Alleviation of microglial activation induced by p38 MAPK/MK2/PGE2 axis by capsaicin: potential involvement of other than TRPV1 mechanism/s. *Scientific Reports*, *7*.
- Bird, T. D., & Yu, C.-E. (2011). Alois Alzheimer's Case, Auguste D., Did Not Carry the N1411 Mutation in PSEN2 characteristic of Alzheimer Disease in Volga Germans—Reply. *Archives of Neurology*, 68(9), 1210-1211.
- Block, M. L., & Hong, J.-S. (2005). Microglia and inflammation-mediated neurodegeneration: multiple triggers with a common mechanism. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *76*(2), 77-98.
- Block, M. L., Zecca, L., & Hong, J.-S. (2007). Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 8(1), 57-69.
- Boche, D., Perry, V., & Nicoll, J. (2013). Review: activation patterns of microglia and their identification in the human brain. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, *39*(1), 3-18.
- Bode, J. G., Ehlting, C., & Häussinger, D. (2012). The macrophage response towards LPS and its control through the p38 MAPK–STAT3 axis. *Cellular Signalling*, 24(6), 1185-1194.
- Bonizzi, G., & Karin, M. (2004). The two NF-κB activation pathways and their role in innate and adaptive immunity. *Trends in Immunology*, 25(6), 280-288.
- Borish, L. C., & Steinke, J. W. (2003). 2. Cytokines and chemokines. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 111(2), S460-S475.
- Bourque, M., Dluzen, D. E., & Di Paolo, T. (2012). Signaling pathways mediating the neuroprotective effects of sex steroids and SERMs in Parkinson's disease. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, *33*(2), 169-178.
- Branca, F., & Lorenzetti, S. (2005). Health effects of phytoestrogens *Diet diversification and health promotion* (Vol. 57, pp. 100-111): Karger Publishers.
- Brasier, A. R. (2006). The NF-κB regulatory network. *Cardiovascular Toxicology*, *6*(2), 111-130.
- Brecht, S., Kirchhof, R., Chromik, A., Willesen, M., Nicolaus, T., Raivich, G., . . . Claussen, M. (2005). Specific pathophysiological functions of JNK isoforms in the brain. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(2), 363-377.
- Brough, D., Tyrrell, P. J., & Allan, S. M. (2011). Regulation of interleukin-1 in acute brain injury. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, *32*(10), 617-622.
- Bruce-Keller, A. J., Keeling, J. L., Keller, J. N., Huang, F. F., Camondola, S., & Mattson, M. P. (2000). Antiinflammatory Effects of Estrogen on Microglial Activation 1. *Endocrinology*, 141(10), 3646-3656.
- Calvo, F., Agudo-Ibáñez, L., & Crespo, P. (2010). The Ras-ERK pathway: Understanding sitespecific signaling provides hope of new anti-tumor therapies. *Bioessays*, 32(5), 412-421.
- Cao, J., Semenova, M. M., Solovyan, V. T., Han, J., Coffey, E. T., & Courtney, M. J. (2004). Distinct requirements for p38α and c-Jun N-terminal kinase stress-activated protein kinases in different forms of apoptotic neuronal death. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(34), 35903-35913.
- Capiralla, H., Vingtdeux, V., Zhao, H., Sankowski, R., Al-Abed, Y., Davies, P., & Marambaud, P. (2012). Resveratrol mitigates lipopolysaccharide-and Aβ-mediated microglial inflammation by inhibiting the TLR4/NF-κB/STAT signaling cascade. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 120(3), 461-472.

- Cargnello, M., & Roux, P. P. (2011). Activation and function of the MAPKs and their substrates, the MAPK-activated protein kinases. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 75(1), 50-83.
- Carniglia, L., Ramírez, D., Durand, D., Saba, J., Turati, J., Caruso, C., . . . Lasaga, M. (2017). Neuropeptides and microglial activation in inflammation, Pain, and neurodegenerative diseases. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2017.
- Castellani, R. J., Lee, H.-g., Zhu, X., Perry, G., & Smith, M. A. (2008). Alzheimer disease pathology as a host response. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 67(6), 523-531.
- Caviedes, A., Lafourcade, C., Soto, C., & Wyneken, U. (2017). BDNF/NF-kB signaling in the neurobiology of depression. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*.
- Cejas, P. J., Walsh, M. C., Pearce, E. L., Han, D., Harms, G. M., Artis, D., ... Choi, Y. (2010). TRAF6 inhibits Th17 differentiation and TGF-β–mediated suppression of IL-2. *Blood*, *115*(23), 4750-4757.
- Chan, C.-K., Tan, L. T.-H., Andy, S. N., Kamarudin, M. N. A., Goh, B.-H., & Kadir, H. A. (2017). Anti-neuroinflammatory activity of elephantopus scaber L. via activation of Nrf2/HO-1 signaling and inhibition of p38 MAPK pathway in LPS-Induced microglia BV-2 cells. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *8*, 397.
- Chao, J., Leung, Y., Wang, M., & Chang, R. C.-C. (2012). Nutraceuticals and their preventive or potential therapeutic value in Parkinson's disease. *Nutrition Reviews*, 70(7), 373-386.
- Chaves de Souza, J. A., Nogueira, A. V. B., Chaves de Souza, P. P., Kim, Y. J., Silva Lobo, C., Pimentel Lopes de Oliveira, G. J., . . . Rossa, C. (2013). SOCS3 expression correlates with severity of inflammation, expression of proinflammatory cytokines, and activation of STAT3 and p38 MAPK in LPS-induced inflammation in vivo. *Mediators* of Inflammation, 2013.
- Chen, Jalabi, W., Shpargel, K. B., Farabaugh, K. T., Dutta, R., Yin, X., ... Trapp, B. D. (2012). Lipopolysaccharide-induced microglial activation and neuroprotection against experimental brain injury is independent of hematogenous TLR4. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(34), 11706-11715.
- Chen, Wang, X.-J., Jin, Z.-Y., Xu, X.-M., Zhao, J.-W., & Xie, Z.-J. (2008). Protective effect of isoflavones from Trifolium pratense on dopaminergic neurons. *Neuroscience Research*, 62(2), 123-130.
- Chen, & Zeng, G. (2011). Formononetin induces cell cycle arrest of human breast cancer cells via IGF1/PI3K/Akt pathways in vitro and in vivo. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, 43(10), 681-686.
- Chen, H.-Q., Jin, Z.-Y., & Li, G.-H. (2007). Biochanin A protects dopaminergic neurons against lipopolysaccharide-induced damage through inhibition of microglia activation and proinflammatory factors generation. *Neuroscience Letters*, *417*(2), 112-117.
- Chen, H.-Q., Wang, X.-J., Jin, Z.-Y., Xu, X.-M., Zhao, J.-W., & Xie, Z.-J. (2008). Protective effect of isoflavones from Trifolium pratense on dopaminergic neurons. *Neuroscience Research*, *62*(2), 123-130.
- Cherry, S., & Silverman, N. (2006). Host-pathogen interactions in drosophila: new tricks from an old friend. *Nature Immunology*, 7(9), 911-917.
- Choi, D. Y., Lee, J. W., Peng, J., Lee, Y. J., Han, J. Y., Lee, Y. H., . . . Lee, W. S. (2012). Obovatol improves cognitive functions in animal models for Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 120(6), 1048-1059.
- Choi, K.-C., Lee, Y.-H., Jung, M. G., Kwon, S. H., Kim, M.-J., Jun, W. J., . . . Yoon, H.-G. (2009). Gallic acid suppresses lipopolysaccharide-induced nuclear factor-κB signaling by preventing RelA acetylation in A549 lung cancer cells. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 7(12), 2011-2021.

- Clark, I. A. (2007). How TNF was recognized as a key mechanism of disease. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, 18(3), 335-343.
- Colombo, A., Repici, M., Pesaresi, M., Santambrogio, S., Forloni, G., & Borsello, T. (2007). The TAT-JNK inhibitor peptide interferes with beta amyloid protein stability. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 14(10), 1845-1848.
- Coneski, P. N., & Schoenfisch, M. H. (2012). Nitric oxide release: part III. Measurement and reporting. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 41(10), 3753-3758.
- Cook, E., Hermes, J., Li, J., & Tudor, M. (2018). High-Content Reporter Assays *Reporter Gene* Assays (pp. 179-195): Springer.
- Cornil, C. A., Ball, G. F., & Balthazart, J. (2015). The dual action of estrogen hypothesis. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 38(7), 408-416.
- Corrêa, S. A., & Eales, K. L. (2012). The role of p38 MAPK and its substrates in neuronal plasticity and neurodegenerative disease. *Journal of Signal Transduction*, 2012.
- Coyoy, A., Guerra-Araiza, C., & Camacho-Arroyo, I. (2016). Metabolism Regulation by Estrogens and Their Receptors in the Central Nervous System Before and After Menopause. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*.
- de Pablos, R. M., Herrera, A. J., Espinosa-Oliva, A. M., Sarmiento, M., Muñoz, M. F., Machado, A., & Venero, J. L. (2014). Chronic stress enhances microglia activation and exacerbates death of nigral dopaminergic neurons under conditions of inflammation. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 11(1), 34.
- Deardorff, W. J., & Grossberg, G. T. (2017). Targeting neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease: evidence for NSAIDs and novel therapeutics. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 17(1), 17-32.
- Delves, P. J., & Roitt, I. M. (2000). The immune system. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 343(1), 37-49.
- Dempsey, P. W., Doyle, S. E., He, J. Q., & Cheng, G. (2003). The signaling adaptors and pathways activated by TNF superfamily. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, *14*(3), 193-209.
- Dev, A., Iyer, S., Razani, B., & Cheng, G. (2010). NF-κB and innate immunity *NF-kB in Health and Disease* (pp. 115-143): Springer.
- Dodel, R., Du, Y., Bales, K. R., Gao, F., & Paul, S. (1999). Sodium salicylate and 17β-estradiol attenuate nuclear transcription factor NF-κB translocation in cultured rat astroglial cultures following exposure to amyloid Aβ1-40 and lipoplysaccharides. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *73*(4), 1453-1460.
- Doens, D., & Fernández, P. L. (2014). Microglia receptors and their implications in the response to amyloid β for Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 11(1), 48.
- Dong, W., Embury, C. M., Lu, Y., Whitmire, S. M., Dyavarshetty, B., Gelbard, H. A., ... Kiyota, T. (2016). The mixed-lineage kinase 3 inhibitor URMC-099 facilitates microglial amyloid-β degradation. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, *13*(1), 184-184.
- Drew, P. D., & Chavis, J. A. (2000). Female sex steroids: effects upon microglial cell activation. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 111(1), 77-85.
- Duraisamy, K., Selvakumar, G. P., Thangavel, R., Raikwar, S. P., Ahmed, M. E., Zaheer, S., . . . Zaheer, A. (2017). Mast cell activation in brain injury, stress and post-traumatic stress disorder and Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *11*, 703.
- Duraisamy, S., Bajpai, M., Bughani, U., Dastidar, S. G., Ray, A., & Chopra, P. (2008). MK2: a novel molecular target for anti-inflammatory therapy. *Expert opinion on therapeutic targets*, *12*(8), 921-936.

- Dzamko, N., Zhou, J., Huang, Y., & Halliday, G. M. (2014). Parkinson's disease-implicated kinases in the brain; insights into disease pathogenesis. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 7, 57.
- Efferth, T. (2017). Cancer combination therapies with artemisinin-type drugs. *Biochemical Pharmacology*.
- Endale, M., Kim, T.-H., Kwak, Y.-S., Kim, N.-M., Kim, S.-H., Cho, J. Y., . . . Rhee, M.-H. (2017). Torilin inhibits inflammation by limiting TAK1-mediated MAP kinase and NFκB activation. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2017.
- Evinger, A. J., & Levin, E. R. (2005). Requirements for estrogen receptor α membrane localization and function. *Steroids*, 70(5), 361-363.
- Fan, Guan-Wei, Liu, K., Zhang, Z., Luo, T., Xi, Z., . . . Liu, B. (2010). Modified Si-Miao-San extract inhibits the release of inflammatory mediators from lipopolysaccharide-stimulated mouse macrophages. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *129*(1), 5-9.
- Fan, G.-W., Zhang, Y., Jiang, X., Zhu, Y., Wang, B., Su, L., . . Gao, X. (2013). Antiinflammatory activity of baicalein in LPS-stimulated RAW264. 7 macrophages via estrogen receptor and NF-κB-dependent pathways. *Inflammation*, 36(6), 1584-1591.
- Farh, K. K.-H., Marson, A., Zhu, J., Kleinewietfeld, M., Housley, W. J., Beik, S., . . . Shishkin, A. A. (2015). Genetic and epigenetic fine mapping of causal autoimmune disease variants. *Nature*, 518(7539), 337-343.
- Farooqui, Horrocks, L. A., & Farooqui, T. (2007). Modulation of inflammation in brain: a matter of fat. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *101*(3), 577-599.
- Feng, Z.-H., Wang, T.-G., Li, D.-D., Fung, P., Wilson, B., Liu, B., . . . Hong, J.-S. (2002). Cyclooxygenase-2-deficient mice are resistant to 1-methyl-4-phenyl1, 2, 3, 6tetrahydropyridine-induced damage of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra. *Neuroscience Letters*, 329(3), 354-358.
- Galasko, D., & Montine, T. J. (2010). Biomarkers of oxidative damage and inflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *Biomarkers in Medicine*, 4(1), 27-36.
- Gao, He, H., Jiang, W., Chang, X., Zhu, L., Luo, F., ... Yan, T. (2015). Salidroside ameliorates cognitive impairment in a d-galactose-induced rat model of Alzheimer's disease. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 293, 27-33.
- Gao, & Hong, J.-S. (2008). Why neurodegenerative diseases are progressive: uncontrolled inflammation drives disease progression. *Trends in Immunology*, 29(8), 357-365.
- Gao, Signore, A. P., Yin, W., Cao, G., Yin, X.-M., Sun, F., ... Chen, J. (2005). Neuroprotection against focal ischemic brain injury by inhibition of c-Jun N-terminal kinase and attenuation of the mitochondrial apoptosis-signaling pathway. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 25(6), 694-712.
- Geng, Y., Valbracht, J., & Lotz, M. (1996). Selective activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase subgroups c-Jun NH2 terminal kinase and p38 by IL-1 and TNF in human articular chondrocytes. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *98*(10), 2425.
- Ghasemi, M., & Fatemi, A. (2014). Pathologic role of glial nitric oxide in adult and pediatric neuroinflammatory diseases. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 45, 168-182.
- Gibson, R. M., Rothwell, N. J., & Le Feuvre, R. A. (2004). CNS injury: the role of the cytokine IL-1. *The Veterinary Journal*, *168*(3), 230-237.
- Gilmore, T. D. (2006). Introduction to NF-κB: players, pathways, perspectives. *Oncogene*, 25(51), 6680-6684.
- Glass, C. K., & Saijo, K. (2010). Nuclear receptor transrepression pathways that regulate inflammation in macrophages and T cells. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *10*(5), 365-376.
- Glass, C. K., Saijo, K., Winner, B., Marchetto, M. C., & Gage, F. H. (2010). Mechanisms underlying inflammation in neurodegeneration. *Cell*, *140*(6), 918-934.

- Gold, S. M., & Voskuhl, R. R. (2009). Estrogen and testosterone therapies in multiple sclerosis. *Progress in brain research*, 175, 239-251.
- Goldmann, T., Wieghofer, P., Müller, P. F., Wolf, Y., Varol, D., Yona, S., ... Datta, M. (2013). A new type of microglia gene targeting shows TAK1 to be pivotal in CNS autoimmune inflammation. *Nature Neuroscience*, 16(11), 1618-1626.
- Gong, P., Madak-Erdogan, Z., Li, J., Cheng, J., Greenlief, C. M., Helferich, W., . . . Katzenellenbogen, B. S. (2014). Transcriptomic analysis identifies gene networks regulated by estrogen receptor α (ER α) and ER β that control distinct effects of different botanical estrogens. *Nucl Recept Signal*, *12*, e001.
- Graeber, M. B., Li, W., & Rodriguez, M. L. (2011). Role of microglia in CNS inflammation. *FEBS Letters*, 585(23), 3798-3805.
- Graeber, M. B., & Stre'rt, W. J. (1990). Microglia: immune network in the CNS. Brain Pathology, 1(1), 2-5.
- Graeber, M. B., Streit, W. J., & Kreutzberg, G. W. (1988). The microglial cytoskeleton: vimentin is localized within activated cellsin situ. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 17(4), 573-580.
- Graham, F., Smiley, J., Russell, W., & Nairn, R. (1977). Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. *Journal of General Virology*, 36(1), 59-72.
- Grösch, S., Niederberger, E., & Geisslinger, G. (2017). Investigational drugs targeting the prostaglandin E2 signaling pathway for the treatment of inflammatory pain. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, 26(1), 51-61.
- Guerriero, F., Sgarlata, C., Francis, M., Maurizi, N., Faragli, A., Perna, S., . . . Ricevuti, G. (2017). Neuroinflammation, immune system and Alzheimer disease: searching for the missing link. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, 29(5), 821-831.
- Guo, B., Xu, D., Liu, X., Liao, C., Li, S., Huang, Z., . . . Yi, J. (2017). Characterization and cytotoxicity of PLGA nanoparticles loaded with formononetin cyclodextrin complex. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, *41*, 375-383.
- Guo, J., & Friedman, S. L. (2010). Toll-like receptor 4 signaling in liver injury and hepatic fibrogenesis. *Fibrogenesis & tissue repair*, 3(1), 1.
- Haenseler, W., Sansom, S. N., Buchrieser, J., Newey, S. E., Moore, C. S., Nicholls, F. J., . . . Allen, N. D. (2017). A highly efficient human pluripotent stem cell microglia model displays a neuronal-co-culture-specific expression profile and inflammatory response. *Stem Cell Reports*, 8(6), 1727-1742.
- Hall, J. M., Couse, J. F., & Korach, K. S. (2001). The multifaceted mechanisms of estradiol and estrogen receptor signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(40), 36869-36872.
- Han, J., & Ulevitch, R. J. (2005). Limiting inflammatory responses during activation of innate immunity. *Nature Immunology*, 6(12), 1198-1205.
- Hanamsagar, R., Hanke, M. L., & Kielian, T. (2012). Toll-like receptor (TLR) and inflammasome actions in the central nervous system. *Trends in immunology*, 33(7), 333-342.
- Hanisch, U.-K., & Kettenmann, H. (2007). Microglia: active sensor and versatile effector cells in the normal and pathologic brain. *Nature Neuroscience*, *10*(11), 1387-1394.
- Hanke, M. L., & Kielian, T. (2011). Toll-like receptors in health and disease in the brain: mechanisms and therapeutic potential. *Clinical Science*, *121*(9), 367-387.
- He, L. X., Tong, X., Zeng, J., Tu, Y., Wu, S., Li, M., . . . Nie, H. (2016). Paeonol suppresses neuroinflammatory responses in LPS-activated microglia cells. *Inflammation*, 39(6), 1904-1917.

- Heldring, N., Pike, A., Andersson, S., Matthews, J., Cheng, G., Hartman, J., . . . Warner, M. (2007). Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets. *Physiological Reviews*, 87(3), 905-931.
- Heneka, M. T., Carson, M. J., El Khoury, J., Landreth, G. E., Brosseron, F., Feinstein, D. L., . . Ransohoff, R. M. (2015). Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet Neurology*, 14(4), 388-405.
- Hertrampf, T., Schmidt, S., Laudenbach-Leschowsky, U., Seibel, J., & Diel, P. (2005). Tissuespecific modulation of cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox-2) expression in the uterus and the v. cava by estrogens and phytoestrogens. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 243(1), 51-57.
- Hewitt, S. C., Winuthayanon, W., & Korach, K. S. (2016). What's new in estrogen receptor action in the female reproductive tract. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, 56(2), R55-R71.
- Hirsch, E. C., & Hunot, S. (2009). Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease: a target for neuroprotection? *The Lancet Neurology*, 8(4), 382-397.
- Hoozemans, J., Rozemuller, A., Janssen, I., De Groot, C., Veerhuis, R., & Eikelenboom, P. (2001). Cyclooxygenase expression in microglia and neurons in Alzheimer's disease and control brain. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 101(1), 2-8.
- Howes, J., Waring, M., Huang, L., & Howes, L. G. (2002). Long-term pharmacokinetics of an extract of isoflavones from red clover (Trifolium pratense). *The Journal of Alternative & Complementary Medicine*, 8(2), 135-142.
- Hu, W., Wang, G., Li, P., Wang, Y., Si, C.-L., He, J., . . . Wang, X. (2014). Neuroprotective effects of macranthoin G from Eucommia ulmoides against hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis in PC12 cells via inhibiting NF-κB activation. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 224, 108-116.
- Huang, Han, J., & Hui, L. (2010). MAPK signaling in inflammation-associated cancer development. *Protein & Cell*, 1(3), 218-226.
- Huh, J.-E., Lee, W. I., Kang, J. W., Nam, D., Choi, D.-Y., Park, D.-S., . . . Lee, J.-D. (2014). Formononetin attenuates osteoclastogenesis via suppressing the RANKL-induced activation of NF-κB, c-Fos, and nuclear factor of activated T-cells cytoplasmic 1 signaling pathway. *Journal of Natural Products*, 77(11), 2423-2431.
- Huh, J.-E., Nam, D.-W., Baek, Y.-H., Kang, J. W., Park, D.-S., Choi, D.-Y., & Lee, J.-D. (2011). Formononetin accelerates wound repair by the regulation of early growth response factor-1 transcription factor through the phosphorylation of the ERK and p38 MAPK pathways. *International Immunopharmacology*, 11(1), 46-54.
- Hunot, S., Vila, M., Teismann, P., Davis, R. J., Hirsch, E. C., Przedborski, S., . . . Flavell, R. A. (2004). JNK-mediated induction of cyclooxygenase 2 is required for neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(2), 665-670.
- Hyakkoku, K., Hamanaka, J., Tsuruma, K., Shimazawa, M., Tanaka, H., Uematsu, S., . . . Hara, H. (2010). Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), but not TLR3 or TLR9, knock-out mice have neuroprotective effects against focal cerebral ischemia. *Neuroscience*, 171(1), 258-267.
- Ignar-Trowbridge, D. M., Pimentel, M., Teng, C. T., Korach, K. S., & McLachlan, J. A. (1995). Cross talk between peptide growth factor and estrogen receptor signaling systems. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 103(Suppl 7), 35.
- Jia, W., Liu, G., Zhang, C., & Zhang, S. (2014). Formononetin attenuates hydrogen peroxide (H2O2)-induced apoptosis and NF-κB activation in RGC-5 cells. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci*, *18*(15), 2191-2197.
- Jian-Hong, Li, Q., Wu, M.-Y., Guo, D.-J., Chen, H.-L., Chen, S.-L., . . . Leung, G. P. (2010). Formononetin, an isoflavone, relaxes rat isolated aorta through endothelium-dependent

and endothelium-independent pathways. The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry, 21(7), 613-620.

- Johnson, & Lapadat, R. (2002). Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways mediated by ERK, JNK, and p38 protein kinases. *Science*, *298*(5600), 1911-1912.
- Jordan, V. C. (2003). Antiestrogens and selective estrogen receptor modulators as multifunctional medicines. 1. Receptor interactions. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 46(6), 883-908.
- Kang, S. Y., Jung, H. W., Lee, M.-Y., Lee, H. W., Chae, S. W., & Park, Y.-K. (2014). Effect of the semen extract of Cuscuta chinensis on inflammatory responses in LPS-stimulated BV-2 microglia. *Chinese Journal of Natural Medicines*, 12(8), 573-581.
- Kaur, K., Gill, J. S., Bansal, P. K., & Deshmukh, R. (2017). Neuroinflammation-A major cause for striatal dopaminergic degeneration in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of The Neurological Sciences*, 381, 308-314.
- Kawaguchi, K., Matsumoto, T., & Kumazawa, Y. (2011). Effects of antioxidant polyphenols on TNF-alpha-related diseases. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, 11(14), 1767-1779.
- Kim, & Cho, S. (2016). Microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages in stroke. *Neurotherapeutics*, 13(4), 702-718.
- Kim, Kim, B.-C., Xu, Z., & Kim, S.-J. (2004). Mixed lineage kinase 3 (MLK3)-activated p38 MAP kinase mediates transforming growth factor-β-induced apoptosis in hepatoma cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(28), 29478-29484.
- Kim, & Leonard, B. E. (2016). The role of pro-inflammatory cytokines in neuroinflammation, neurogenesis and the neuroendocrine system in major depression. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 64, 277-284.
- Kim, Na, K.-S., Myint, A.-M., & Leonard, B. E. (2016). The role of pro-inflammatory cytokines in neuroinflammation, neurogenesis and the neuroendocrine system in major depression. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 64, 277-284.
- Kim, A.-R., Lee, M.-S., Choi, J.-W., Utsuki, T., Kim, J.-I., Jang, B.-C., & Kim, H.-R. (2013). Phlorofucofuroeckol A suppresses expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase, cyclooxygenase-2, and pro-inflammatory cytokines via inhibition of nuclear factor-κB, c-Jun NH2-terminal kinases, and Akt in microglial cells. *Inflammation*, 36(2), 259-271.
- Klip, A. (2009). The many ways to regulate glucose transporter 4 This paper is one of a selection of papers published in this Special Issue, entitled 14th International Biochemistry of Exercise Conference–Muscles as Molecular and Metabolic Machines, and has undergone the Journal's usual peer review process. *Applied Physiology*, *Nutrition, and Metabolism, 34*(3), 481-487.
- Klotz, D. M., Beckman, B. S., Hill, S. M., McLachlan, J. A., Walters, M. R., & Arnold, S. F. (1996). Identification of environmental chemicals with estrogenic activity using a combination of in vitro assays. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 104(10), 1084.
- Koenderman, L., Buurman, W., & Daha, M. R. (2014). The innate immune response. *Immunology letters*, 162(2), 95-102.
- Konsman, J. P., & Dantzer, R. (2001). How the immune and nervous systems interact during disease-associated anorexia. *Nutrition*, 17(7), 664-668.
- Kreutzberg, G. W. (1996). Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. *Trends Neurosci*, 19(8), 312-318.
- Kronenberg, F., & Fugh-Berman, A. (2002). Complementary and alternative medicine for menopausal symptoms: a review of randomized, controlled trials. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 137(10), 805-813.

- Kuiper, G. G., & Gustafsson, J.-Å. (1997). The novel estrogen receptor- β subtype: potential role in the cell-and promoter-specific actions of estrogens and anti-estrogens. *FEBS Letters*, 410(1), 87-90.
- Kyoung, Pyo, H. K., Yang, M. S., Ji, K., Jou, I., & Joe, E. H. (2004). Gangliosides activate microglia via protein kinase C and NADPH oxidase. *Glia*, 48(3), 197-206.
- Kyriakis, J. M., & Avruch, J. (2012). Mammalian MAPK signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation: a 10-year update. *Physiological Reviews*, 92(2), 689-737.
- Lai, Chan, J., Cheng, L., Lau, C., Han, S., Leung, P., . . . Lau, C. (2012). Identification of antiinflammatory fraction & isolation of active compound formononetin from root of Astragalus membranaceus. *Planta Medica*, 78(11), PI164.
- Lai, Jin-lun, Chan, J. Y. W., Wu, S. B., Cheng, L., Ho, G. K. W., . . . Lau, C. B. S. (2014). Anti-inflammatory Activities of an Active Fraction Isolated from the root of Astragalus membranaceus in RAW 264.7 Macrophages. *Phytotherapy Research*, 28(3), 395-404.
- Lai, Liu, Y.-h., Liu, C., Qi, M.-p., Liu, R.-n., Zhu, X.-f., . . . Hu, C.-m. (2017). Indirubin inhibits LPS-induced inflammation via TLR4 abrogation mediated by the NF-kB and MAPK signaling pathways. *Inflammation*, 40(1), 1-12.
- Lai, P. K. K., Chan, J. Y. W., Cheng, L., Lau, C. P., Han, S. Q. B., Leung, P. C., . . . Lau, C. B. S. (2013). Isolation of Anti-Inflammatory Fractions and Compounds from the Root of Astragalus membranaceus. *Phytotherapy Research*, 27(4), 581-587.
- Langman, R. (2014). The immune system: Elsevier.
- LeClair, E. (2003). Four reasons to consider a novel class of innate immune molecules in the oral epithelium. *Journal of Dental Research*, 82(12), 944-950.
- Lee, J. K., & Kim, N.-J. (2017). Recent Advances in the Inhibition of p38 MAPK as a Potential Strategy for the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. *Molecules*, 22(8), 1287.
- Lee, J. W., Lee, Y. K., Lee, B. J., Nam, S.-Y., Lee, S. I., Kim, Y. H., . . . Hong, J. T. (2010). Inhibitory effect of ethanol extract of Magnolia officinalis and 4-O-methylhonokiol on memory impairment and neuronal toxicity induced by beta-amyloid. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 95(1), 31-40.
- Lee, K.-W., Jung, S. Y., Choi, S.-M., & Yang, E. J. (2012). Effects of ginsenoside Re on LPSinduced inflammatory mediators in BV2 microglial cells. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *12*(1), 196.
- Lee, W., Ku, S.-K., Bae, J. W., & Bae, J.-S. (2012). Inhibitory effects of lycopene on HMGB1mediated pro-inflammatory responses in both cellular and animal models. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 50(6), 1826-1833.
- Lehnardt, S. (2010). Innate immunity and neuroinflammation in the CNS: The role of microglia in Toll-like receptor-mediated neuronal injury. *Glia*, *58*(3), 253-263.
- Levin, E. R. (2002). Cellular functions of plasma membrane estrogen receptors. *Steroids*, 67(6), 471-475.
- Levin, E. R. (2003). Bidirectional signaling between the estrogen receptor and the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Molecular Endocrinology*, *17*(3), 309-317.
- Lewis, D. K., Johnson, A. B., Stohlgren, S., Harms, A., & Sohrabji, F. (2008). Effects of estrogen receptor agonists on regulation of the inflammatory response in astrocytes from young adult and middle-aged female rats. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 195(1), 47-59.
- Leyns, C. E., & Holtzman, D. M. (2017). Glial contributions to neurodegeneration in tauopathies. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*, 12(1), 50.
- Li, Dong, X., Zhang, J., Zeng, G., Zhao, H., Liu, Y., ... Ye, Y. (2014). Formononetin protects TBI rats against neurological lesions and the underlying mechanism. *Journal of The Neurological Sciences*, 338(1), 112-117.

- Li, Q., & Verma, I. M. (2002). NF-κB regulation in the immune system. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 2(10), 725-734.
- Li, W., Sun, Y. N., Yan, X. T., Yang, S. Y., Kim, S., Lee, Y. M., . . . Kim, Y. H. (2014). Flavonoids from Astragalus membranaceus and their inhibitory effects on LPSstimulated pro-inflammatory cytokine production in bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, *37*(2), 186-192.
- Liao, Cherng, Y.-G., Liu, S.-H., Chang, Y.-A., Lin, P.-I., & Chen, R.-M. (2014). Genistein induces oestrogen receptor-α gene expression in osteoblasts through the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases/NF-κB/activator protein-1 and promotes cell mineralisation. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 111(1), 55-63.
- Lim, T.-G., Kim, J.-E., Jung, S. K., Li, Y., Bode, A. M., Park, J.-S., . . . Lee, K. W. (2013). MLK3 is a direct target of biochanin A, which plays a role in solar UV-induced COX-2 expression in human keratinocytes. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 86(7), 896-903.
- Lim, W., Jeong, M., Bazer, F. W., & Song, G. (2017). Coumestrol inhibits proliferation and migration of prostate cancer cells by regulating AKT, ERK1/2, and JNK MAPK cell signaling cascades. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 232(4), 862-871.
- Lin, Ström, A., Vega, V. B., Kong, S. L., Yeo, A. L., Thomsen, J. S., . . . Ramasamy, A. (2004). Discovery of estrogen receptor α target genes and response elements in breast tumor cells. *Genome Biology*, *5*(9), R66.
- Lin, C.-H., Yu, M.-C., Tung, W.-H., Chen, T.-T., Yu, C.-C., Weng, C.-M., . . . Chien, M.-H. (2013). Connective tissue growth factor induces collagen I expression in human lung fibroblasts through the Rac1/MLK3/JNK/AP-1 pathway. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research*, 1833(12), 2823-2833.
- Linker, R. A., Kruse, N., Israel, S., Wei, T., Seubert, S., Hombach, A., ... Sendtner, M. (2008). Leukemia inhibitory factor deficiency modulates the immune response and limits autoimmune demyelination: a new role for neurotrophic cytokines in neuroinflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 180(4), 2204-2213.
- Liu, J., Yan, X., Li, L., Li, Y., Zhou, L., Zhang, X., . . . Zhao, G. (2015). Ginsenoside Rd improves learning and memory ability in APP transgenic mice. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, *57*(4), 522-528.
- Liu, Y., He, J., Chen, X., Li, J., Shen, M., Yu, W., . . . Xiao, Z. (2014). The proapoptotic effect of formononetin in human osteosarcoma cells: involvement of inactivation of ERK and Akt pathways. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, *34*(3), 637-645.
- Ljubisavljevic, S., Stojanovic, I., Pavlovic, R., & Pavlovic, D. (2014). The importance of nitric oxide and arginase in the pathogenesis of acute neuroinflammation: are those contra players with the same direction? *Neurotoxicity Research*, *26*(4), 392-399.
- Lotze, M. T., Zeh, H. J., Rubartelli, A., Sparvero, L. J., Amoscato, A. A., Washburn, N. R., . . . Billiar, T. (2007). The grateful dead: damage-associated molecular pattern molecules and reduction/oxidation regulate immunity. *Immunological Reviews*, 220(1), 60-81.
- Lull, M. E., & Block, M. L. (2010). Microglial activation and chronic neurodegeneration. *Neurotherapeutics*, 7(4), 354-365.
- Ma, Z., Ji, W., Fu, Q., & Ma, S. (2013). Formononetin inhibited the inflammation of LPSinduced acute lung injury in mice associated with induction of PPAR gamma expression. *Inflammation*, *36*(6), 1560-1566.
- Mak, P., Li, J., Samanta, S., & Mercurio, A. M. (2015). ERβ regulation of NF-κB activation in prostate cancer is mediated by HIF-1. *Oncotarget*, *6*(37), 40247.
- Marcotorchino, J., Romier, B., Gouranton, E., Riollet, C., Gleize, B., Malezet-Desmoulins, C., & Landrier, J. F. (2012). Lycopene attenuates LPS-induced TNF-α secretion in macrophages and inflammatory markers in adipocytes exposed to macrophageconditioned media. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 56(5), 725-732.

- Marino, M., Galluzzo, P., & Ascenzi, P. (2006). Estrogen signaling multiple pathways to impact gene transcription. *Current Genomics*, 7(8), 497.
- Marsh, B. J., Williams-Karnesky, R. L., & Stenzel-Poore, M. P. (2009). Toll-like receptor signaling in endogenous neuroprotection and stroke. *Neuroscience*, 158(3), 1007-1020.
- Maxwell, T., Chun, S.-Y., Lee, K.-S., Kim, S., & Nam, K.-S. (2017). The anti-metastatic effects of the phytoestrogen arctigenin on human breast cancer cell lines regardless of the status of ER expression. *International Journal of Oncology*, *50*(2), 727-735.
- McGeer, P. L., & McGeer, E. G. (2004). Inflammation and neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism & related disorders*, 10, S3-S7.
- McKenna, N. J., & O'Malley, B. W. (2002). Combinatorial control of gene expression by nuclear receptors and coregulators. *Cell*, 108(4), 465-474.
- Medicine, P. C. o. t. A. S. f. R. (2004). Estrogen and progestogen therapy in postmenopausal women. *Fertility and Sterility*, 81(1), 231-241.
- Meister, G., & Tuschl, T. (2004). Mechanisms of gene silencing by double-stranded RNA. *Nature*, 431(7006), 343.
- Mérot, Y., Ferrière, F., Gailhouste, L., Huet, G., Percevault, F., Saligaut, C., & Flouriot, G. (2009). Different outcomes of unliganded and liganded estrogen receptor-α on neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells. *Endocrinology*, 150(1), 200-211.
- Meyers, M. J., Sun, J., Carlson, K. E., Marriner, G. A., Katzenellenbogen, B. S., & Katzenellenbogen, J. A. (2001). Estrogen receptor-β potency-selective ligands: structure-activity relationship studies of diarylpropionitriles and their acetylene and polar analogues. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 44(24), 4230-4251.
- Michel, T., Halabalaki, M., & Skaltsounis, A.-L. (2013). New concepts, experimental approaches, and dereplication strategies for the discovery of novel phytoestrogens from natural sources. *Planta Medica*, *79*(07), 514-532.
- Min, K.-j., Jou, I., & Joe, E. (2003). Plasminogen-induced IL-1β and TNF-α production in microglia is regulated by reactive oxygen species. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 312(4), 969-974.
- Minter, M. R., Taylor, J. M., & Crack, P. J. (2016). The contribution of neuroinflammation to amyloid toxicity in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 136(3), 457-474.
- Morales, I., Guzmán-Martínez, L., Cerda-Troncoso, C., Farías, G. A., & Maccioni, R. B. (2014). Neuroinflammation in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. A rational framework for the search of novel therapeutic approaches. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 8, 112.
- Morel, J., & Berenbaum, F. (2004). Signal transduction pathways: new targets for treating rheumatoid arthritis. *Joint Bone Spine*, 71(6), 503-510.
- Morisalo, D., & Anderson, K. V. (1995). Signaling pathways that establish the dorsal-ventral pattern of the Drosophila embryo. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 29(1), 371-399.
- Mosmann, T. (1983). Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 65(1-2), 55-63.
- Mu, H., Bai, Y.-H., Wang, S.-T., Zhu, Z.-M., & Zhang, Y.-W. (2009a). Research on antioxidant effects and estrogenic effect of formononetin from Trifolium pratense (red clover). *Phytomedicine*, *16*(4), 314-319.
- Mu, H., Bai, Y.-H., Wang, S.-T., Zhu, Z.-M., & Zhang, Y.-W. (2009b). Research on antioxidant effects and estrogenic effect of formononetin from< i> Trifolium pratense</i>(< i> red clover</i>). *Phytomedicine*, *16*(4), 314-319.

immunological considerations and clinical effects of celecoxib add-on therapy. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 254(1), 14-22.

- Munoz, L., & Ammit, A. J. (2010). Targeting p38 MAPK pathway for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropharmacology*, 58(3), 561-568.
- Murphy, K., Travers, P., & Walport, M. (2008). The humoral immune response. Janeway's immunobiology. 7th edition. Garland Science; New York.
- Murshid, A., Gong, J., Prince, T., Borges, T. J., & Calderwood, S. K. (2015). Scavenger receptor SREC-I mediated entry of TLR4 into lipid microdomains and triggered inflammatory cytokine release in RAW 264.7 cells upon LPS activation. *PLoS One*, *10*(4), e0122529.
- Muthyala, R. S., Ju, Y. H., Sheng, S., Williams, L. D., Doerge, D. R., Katzenellenbogen, B. S., . . . Katzenellenbogen, J. A. (2004). Equol, a natural estrogenic metabolite from soy isoflavones: convenient preparation and resolution of R-and S-equols and their differing binding and biological activity through estrogen receptors alpha and beta. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 12(6), 1559-1567.
- Negi, A. S., Darokar, M. P., Chattopadhyay, S. K., Garg, A., Bhattacharya, A. K., Srivastava, V., & Khanuja, S. P. (2005). Synthesis of a novel plant growth promoter from gallic acid. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 15(4), 1243-1247.
- O'Neill, L. A., & Dinarello, C. A. (2000). The IL-1 receptor/toll-like receptor superfamily: crucial receptors for inflammation and host defense. *Immunology Today*, 21(5), 206-209.
- Occhiuto, F., Palumbo, D. R., Samperi, S., Zangla, G., Pino, A., Pasquale, R. D., & Circosta, C. (2009). The isoflavones mixture from Trifolium pratense L. protects HCN 1-A neurons from oxidative stress. *Phytotherapy Research*, 23(2), 192-196.
- Ock, J., Han, H. S., Hong, S. H., Lee, S. Y., Han, Y. M., Kwon, B. M., & Suk, K. (2010). Obovatol attenuates microglia-mediated neuroinflammation by modulating redox regulation. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 159(8), 1646-1662.
- Ock, J., Jeong, J., Choi, W. S., Lee, W. H., Kim, S. H., Kim, I. K., & Suk, K. (2007). Regulation of Toll-like receptor 4 expression and its signaling by hypoxia in cultured microglia. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 85(9), 1989-1995.
- Oeckinghaus, A., Hayden, M. S., & Ghosh, S. (2011). Crosstalk in NF-[kappa]B signaling pathways. *Nat Immunol*, 12(8), 695-708.
- Oh, J. H., La Kang, L., Ban, J. O., Kim, Y. H., Kim, K. H., Han, S. B., & Hong, J. T. (2009). Anti-inflammatory effect of 4-O-methylhonokiol, a novel compound isolated from Magnolia officinalis through inhibition of NF-κB. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 180(3), 506-514.
- Oh, W.-J., Jung, U., Eom, H.-S., Shin, H.-J., & Park, H.-R. (2013). Inhibition of lipopolysaccharide-induced proinflammatory responses by Buddleja officinalis extract in BV-2 microglial cells via negative regulation of NF-kB and ERK1/2 signaling. *Molecules*, 18(8), 9195-9206.
- Oh, Y. T., Lee, J. Y., Lee, J., Kim, H., Yoon, K.-S., Choe, W., & Kang, I. (2009). Oleic acid reduces lipopolysaccharide-induced expression of iNOS and COX-2 in BV2 murine microglial cells: Possible involvement of reactive oxygen species, p38 MAPK, and IKK/NF-κB signaling pathways. *Neuroscience Letters*, 464(2), 93-97.
- Ono, K., & Han, J. (2000). The p38 signal transduction pathway activation and function. *Cellular Signalling*, 12(1), 1-13.
- Paradkar, P., Mishra, L., Joshi, J., Dandekar, S., Vaidya, R., & Vaidya, A. (2017). In vitro macrophage activation: A technique for screening anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory and anticancer activity of phytomolecules.

- Park, S., Lim, W., Bazer, F. W., & Song, G. (2017). Naringenin suppresses growth of human placental choriocarcinoma via reactive oxygen species-mediated P38 and JNK MAPK pathways. *Phytomedicine*.
- Park, S., Sapkota, K., Kim, S., Kim, H., & Kim, S. (2011). Kaempferol acts through mitogenactivated protein kinases and protein kinase B/AKT to elicit protection in a model of neuroinflammation in BV2 microglial cells. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 164(3), 1008-1025.
- Pascual, M., Fernández-Lizarbe, S., & Guerri, C. (2011). Role of TLR4 in ethanol effects on innate and adaptive immune responses in peritoneal macrophages. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 89(6), 716-727.
- Patrick, Iha, H., Iwanaga, Y., Bittner, M., Chen, Y., Jiang, Y., . . . Jeang, K.-T. (2001). Genomewide expression changes induced by HTLV-1 Tax: evidence for MLK-3 mixed lineage kinase involvement in Tax-mediated NF-κB activation. *Oncogene*, 20, 4484-4496.
- Perkins, N. D. (2007). Integrating cell-signalling pathways with NF-κB and IKK function. *Nature reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 8(1), 49.
- Perry, & Teeling, J. (2013). *Microglia and macrophages of the central nervous system: the contribution of microglia priming and systemic inflammation to chronic neurodegeneration*. Paper presented at the Seminars in immunopathology.
- Pfeffer, K., Matsuyama, T., Kündig, T. M., Wakeham, A., Kishihara, K., Shahinian, A., . . . Mak, T. W. (1993). Mice deficient for the 55 kd tumor necrosis factor receptor are resistant to endotoxic shock, yet succumb to L. monocytogenes infection. *Cell*, 73(3), 457-467.
- Phillis, J. W., Horrocks, L. A., & Farooqui, A. A. (2006). Cyclooxygenases, lipoxygenases, and epoxygenases in CNS: their role and involvement in neurological disorders. *Brain Research Reviews*, *52*(2), 201-243.
- Poluzzi, E., Piccinni, C., Raschi, E., Rampa, A., Recanatini, M., & De Ponti, F. (2014). Phytoestrogens in postmenopause: the state of the art from a chemical, pharmacological and regulatory perspective. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 21(4), 417-436.
- Portou, M., Baker, D., Abraham, D., & Tsui, J. (2015). The innate immune system, toll-like receptors and dermal wound healing: a review. *Vascular Pharmacology*, 71, 31-36.
- Potapovich, A. I., Lulli, D., Fidanza, P., Kostyuk, V. A., De Luca, C., Pastore, S., & Korkina, L. G. (2011). Plant polyphenols differentially modulate inflammatory responses of human keratinocytes by interfering with activation of transcription factors NFκB and AhR and EGFR–ERK pathway. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 255(2), 138-149.
- Pugazhenthi, S., Zhang, Y., Bouchard, R., & Mahaffey, G. (2013). Induction of an inflammatory loop by interleukin-1 β and tumor necrosis factor- α involves NF-kB and STAT-1 in differentiated human neuroprogenitor cells. *PLoS One*, *8*(7), e69585.
- Raman, M., Chen, W., & Cobb, M. (2007). Differential regulation and properties of MAPKs. *Oncogene*, 26(22), 3100-3112.
- Ramien, C., Taenzer, A., Lupu, A., Heckmann, N., Engler, J. B., Patas, K., . . . Gold, S. M. (2016). Sex effects on inflammatory and neurodegenerative processes in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 67, 137-146.
- Ransohoff, R. M., & Brown, M. A. (2012). Innate immunity in the central nervous system. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *122*(4), 1164.
- Ray, A., Chakraborty, K., & Ray, P. (2013). Immunosuppressive MDSCs induced by TLR signaling during infection and role in resolution of inflammation. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, *3*.
- Razandi, M., Alton, G., Pedram, A., Ghonshani, S., Webb, P., & Levin, E. R. (2003). Identification of a structural determinant necessary for the localization and function of

estrogen receptor α at the plasma membrane. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(5), 1633-1646.

- Reid, G., Denger, S., Kos, M., & Gannon, F. (2002). Human estrogen receptor-α: regulation by synthesis, modification and degradation. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*, 59(5), 821-831.
- Ronkina, N., Menon, M. B., Schwermann, J., Tiedje, C., Hitti, E., Kotlyarov, A., & Gaestel, M. (2010). MAPKAP kinases MK2 and MK3 in inflammation: complex regulation of TNF biosynthesis via expression and phosphorylation of tristetraprolin. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 80(12), 1915-1920.
- Roth, A., Schaffner, W., & Hertel, C. (1999). Phytoestrogen kaempferol (3, 4', 5, 7-tetrahydroxyflavone) protects PC12 and T47D cells from β -amyloid–induced toxicity. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 57(3), 399-404.
- Rothaug, M., Becker-Pauly, C., & Rose-John, S. (2016). The role of interleukin-6 signaling in nervous tissue. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research*, 1863(6), 1218-1227.
- Rubio-Perez, J. M., & Morillas-Ruiz, J. M. (2012). A review: inflammatory process in Alzheimer's disease, role of cytokines. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2012.
- Sakurai, H. (2012). Targeting of TAK1 in inflammatory disorders and cancer. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 33(10), 522-530.
- Sakurai, H., Shigemori, N., Hasegawa, K., & Sugita, T. (1998). TGF-β-activated kinase 1 stimulates NF-κB activation by an NF-κB-inducing kinase-independent mechanism. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 243(2), 545-549.
- Santa-Cecília, F. V., Socias, B., Ouidja, M. O., Sepulveda-Diaz, J. E., Acuna, L., Silva, R. L., . . . Raisman-Vozari, R. (2016). Doxycycline suppresses microglial activation by inhibiting the p38 MAPK and NF-kB signaling pathways. *Neurotoxicity Research*, 29(4), 447-459.
- Sarma, J. D. (2014). Microglia-mediated neuroinflammation is an amplifier of virus-induced neuropathology. *Journal of Neurovirology*, 20(2), 122-136.
- Sato, S., Sanjo, H., Takeda, K., Ninomiya-Tsuji, J., Yamamoto, M., Kawai, T., . . . Akira, S. (2005). Essential function for the kinase TAK1 in innate and adaptive immune responses. *Nature Immunology*, 6(11), 1087-1095.
- Saunders-Pullman, R. (2003). Estrogens and parkinson disease. Endocrine, 21(1), 81-87.
- Schwartz, M., Kipnis, J., Rivest, S., & Prat, A. (2013). How do immune cells support and shape the brain in health, disease, and aging? *Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*(45), 17587-17596.
- Scott, L. J., & Goa, K. L. (2000). Galantamine. Drugs, 60(5), 1095-1122.
- Serasanambati, M., & Chilakapati, S. R. (2016). Function of Nuclear Factor kappa B (NF-kB) in human diseases-A Review. *South Indian Journal of Biological Sciences*, 2(4), 368-387.
- Setchell, K. (1998). Phytoestrogens: the biochemistry, physiology, and implications for human health of soy isoflavones. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 68(6), 1333S-1346S.
- Shaftel, S. S., Kyrkanides, S., Olschowka, J. A., Miller, J.-n. H., Johnson, R. E., & O'Banion, M. K. (2007). Sustained hippocampal IL-1β overexpression mediates chronic neuroinflammation and ameliorates Alzheimer plaque pathology. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 117(6), 1595.
- Sharma, D., Biswal, S. N., Kumar, K., Bhardwaj, P., Barhwal, K. K., Kumar, A., ... Chaurasia, O. P. (2017). Estrogen Receptor β Mediated Neuroprotective Efficacy of Cicer microphyllum Seed Extract in Global Hypoxia. *Neurochemical Research*, 42(12), 3474-3489.

- Sheng, Jones, R. A., Zhou, X. Q., McGinness, J. M., Van Eldik, L. J., Mrak, R. E., & Griffin, W. S. T. (2001). Interleukin-1 promotion of MAPK-p38 overexpression in experimental animals and in Alzheimer's disease: potential significance for tau protein phosphorylation. *Neurochemistry International*, 39(5), 341-348.
- Shukla, V., Chandra, V., Sankhwar, P., Popli, P., Kaushal, J. B., Sirohi, V. K., & Dwivedi, A. (2015). Phytoestrogen genistein inhibits EGFR/PI3K/NF-kB activation and induces apoptosis in human endometrial hyperplasial cells. *RSC Advances*, 5(69), 56075-56085.
- Siddiqui, M. T., & Siddiqi, M. (1976). Hypolipidemic principles of Cicer Arietinum: Biochanin-A and formononetin. *Lipids*, 11(3), 243-246.
- Sil, S., & Ghosh, T. (2016). Role of cox-2 mediated neuroinflammation on the neurodegeneration and cognitive impairments in colchicine induced rat model of Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 291, 115-124.
- Singhal, G., Jaehne, E. J., Corrigan, F., Toben, C., & Baune, B. T. (2015). Inflammasomes in neuroinflammation and changes in brain function: a focused review. *Neuroinflammation and Behaviour*, 51.
- Sirotkin, A. V., & Harrath, A. H. (2014). Phytoestrogens and their effects. *European Journal* of Pharmacology, 741, 230-236.
- Smale, S. T. (2010). Selective transcription in response to an inflammatory stimulus. *Cell*, *140*(6), 833-844.
- Smith, J. A., Das, A., Ray, S. K., & Banik, N. L. (2012). Role of pro-inflammatory cytokines released from microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain research bulletin*, 87(1), 10-20.
- Sobenin, I., A Myasoedova, V., & N Orekhov, A. (2016). Phytoestrogen-rich dietary supplements in anti-atherosclerotic therapy in postmenopausal women. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 22(2), 152-163.
- Song, C., Zhang, S., & Huang, H. (2015). Choosing a suitable method for the identification of replication origins in microbial genomes. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6.
- Srinivasan, M., & Lahiri, D. K. (2015). Significance of NF-κB as a pivotal therapeutic target in the neurodegenerative pathologies of Alzheimer's disease and multiple sclerosis. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*, 19(4), 471-487.
- Stender, J. D., Kim, K., Charn, T. H., Komm, B., Chang, K. C., Kraus, W. L., . . . Katzenellenbogen, B. S. (2010). Genome-wide analysis of estrogen receptor α DNA binding and tethering mechanisms identifies Runx1 as a novel tethering factor in receptor-mediated transcriptional activation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 30(16), 3943-3955.
- Sterka, D., & Marriott, I. (2006). Characterization of nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD) protein expression in primary murine microglia. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 179(1), 65-75.
- Su, L., Fu, L., Li, X., Zhang, Y., Li, Z., Wu, X., . . . Hu, D. (2016). Loss of CAR promotes migration and proliferation of HaCaT cells, and accelerates wound healing in rats via Src-p38 MAPK pathway. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 19735.
- Subedi, L., Ji, E., Shin, D., Jin, J., Yeo, J. H., & Kim, S. Y. (2017). Equol, a Dietary Daidzein Gut Metabolite Attenuates Microglial Activation and Potentiates Neuroprotection In Vitro. *Nutrients*, 9(3), 207.
- Swaroop, S., Sengupta, N., Suryawanshi, A. R., Adlakha, Y. K., & Basu, A. (2016). HSP60 plays a regulatory role in IL-1β-induced microglial inflammation via TLR4-p38 MAPK axis. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, *13*(1), 27.
- Tafani, M., Pucci, B., Russo, A., Schito, L., Pellegrini, L., Perrone, G. A., . . . Petrangeli, E. (2013). Modulators of HIF1α and NFkB in cancer treatment: is it a rational approach for controlling malignant progression? *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *4*, 13.

- Takeuchi, O., & Akira, S. (2010). Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. *Cell*, 140(6), 805-820.
- Tang, Y., & Le, W. (2016). Differential roles of M1 and M2 microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. *Molecular Neurobiology*, *53*(2), 1181-1194.
- Tatevossian, R. G., Lawson, A. R., Forshew, T., Hindley, G. F., Ellison, D. W., & Sheer, D. (2010). MAPK pathway activation and the origins of pediatric low-grade astrocytomas. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 222(3), 509-514.
- Thameem, Kaur, C., & Ling, E.-A. (2007). Microglial activation and its implications in the brain diseases. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 14(11), 1189-1197.
- Thornton, M. J. (2013). Estrogens and aging skin. Dermato-Endocrinology, 5(2), 264-270.
- Tiwari-Woodruff, S., Morales, L. B. J., Lee, R., & Voskuhl, R. R. (2007). Differential neuroprotective and antiinflammatory effects of estrogen receptor (ER) α and ERβ ligand treatment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *104*(37), 14813-14818.
- Tolleson, W. H., Doerge, D. R., Churchwell, M. I., Marques, M. M., & Roberts, D. W. (2002). Metabolism of biochanin A and formononetin by human liver microsomes in vitro. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 50(17), 4783-4790.
- Tora, L., White, J., Brou, C., Tasset, D., Webster, N., Scheer, E., & Chambon, P. (1989). The human estrogen receptor has two independent nonacidic transcriptional activation functions. *Cell*, 59(3), 477-487.
- Town, T., Nikolic, V., & Tan, J. (2005). The microglial. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 2(1), 24.
- Tu, Y.-F., Tsai, Y.-S., Wang, L.-W., Wu, H.-C., Huang, C.-C., & Ho, C.-J. (2011). Overweight worsens apoptosis, neuroinflammation and blood-brain barrier damage after hypoxic ischemia in neonatal brain through JNK hyperactivation. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 8(1), 1.
- Varfolomeev, & Ashkenazi, A. (2004). Tumor necrosis factor: an apoptosis JuNKie? *Cell*, *116*(4), 491-497.
- Vegeto, Bonincontro, C., Pollio, G., Sala, A., Viappiani, S., Nardi, F., . . . Maggi, A. (2001). Estrogen prevents the lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory response in microglia. *J Neurosci*, 21(6), 1809-1818.
- Vegeto, Ghisletti, S., Meda, C., Etteri, S., Belcredito, S., & Maggi, A. (2004). Regulation of the lipopolysaccharide signal transduction pathway by 17β-estradiol in macrophage cells. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, *91*(1), 59-66.
- Velagapudi, R., Aderogba, M., & Olajide, O. A. (2014). Tiliroside, a dietary glycosidic flavonoid, inhibits TRAF-6/NF-κB/p38-mediated neuroinflammation in activated BV2 microglia. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects, 1840*(12), 3311-3319.
- Vitkovic, L., Bockaert, J., & Jacque, C. (2000). "Inflammatory" cytokines. Journal of Neurochemistry, 74(2), 457-471.
- Vrachnis, N., Zygouris, D., Iliodromiti, Z., Daniilidis, A., Valsamakis, G., & Kalantaridou, S. (2014). Probing the impact of sex steroids and menopause-related sex steroid deprivation on modulation of immune senescence. *Maturitas*, 78(3), 174-178.
- Waetzig, V., Czeloth, K., Hidding, U., Mielke, K., Kanzow, M., Brecht, S., . . . Hanisch, U. K. (2005). c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs) mediate pro-inflammatory actions of microglia. *Glia*, 50(3), 235-246.
- Walter, S., Letiembre, M., Liu, Y., Heine, H., Penke, B., Hao, W., . . . Schulz-Schüffer, W. (2007). Role of the toll-like receptor 4 in neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, 20(6), 947-956.

- Wang, & Han, X. (2012). Formononetin attenuates IL-1β-induced apoptosis and NF-κB activation in INS-1 cells. *Molecules*, *17*(9), 10052-10064.
- Wang, Huiqiang, Zhang, D., Ge, M., Li, Z., Jiang, J., & Li, Y. (2015). Formononetin inhibits enterovirus 71 replication by regulating COX-2/PGE 2 expression. *Virology Journal*, 12(1), 35.
- Wang, & Tan, L. (2015). Role of pro-inflammatory cytokines released from microglia in Alzheimer's disease. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, *3*(10).
- Wang, Tu, Y.-F., Huang, C.-C., & Ho, C.-J. (2012). JNK signaling is the shared pathway linking neuroinflammation, blood-brain barrier disruption, and oligodendroglial apoptosis in the white matter injury of the immature brain. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 9(1), 175.
- Wang, Zhang, D., Ge, M., Li, Z., Jiang, J., & Li, Y. (2015). Formononetin inhibits enterovirus 71 replication by regulating COX-2/PGE 2 expression. *Virology Journal*, *12*(1), 35.
- Wang, L., Andersson, S., Warner, M., & Gustafsson, J.-Å. (2003). Estrogen receptor (ER) β knockout mice reveal a role for ERβ in migration of cortical neurons in the developing brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(2), 703-708.
- Wang, W., Tang, L., Li, Y., & Wang, Y. (2015). Biochanin A protects against focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion in rats via inhibition of p38-mediated inflammatory responses. *Journal of The Neurological Sciences*, 348(1), 121-125.
- Wang, Y., Zhu, Y., Gao, L., Yin, H., Xie, Z., Wang, D., . . . Han, X. (2012). Formononetin attenuates IL-1β-induced apoptosis and NF-κB activation in INS-1 cells. *Molecules*, *17*(9), 10052-10064.
- Waters, J. P., Pober, J. S., & Bradley, J. R. (2013). Tumour necrosis factor in infectious disease. *The Journal of Pathology*, 230(2), 132-147.
- Wei, Hongyan, Sun, Y. N., Yan, X. T., Yang, S. Y., Kim, S., ... Kim, Y. H. (2014). Flavonoids from Astragalus membranaceus and their inhibitory effects on LPS-stimulated proinflammatory cytokine production in bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. Archives of Pharmacal Research, 37(2), 186-192.
- Wolf, S. A., Boddeke, H., & Kettenmann, H. (2017). Microglia in physiology and disease. *Annual Review of Physiology*(0).
- Wood, A. J., Riggs, B. L., & Hartmann, L. C. (2003). Selective estrogen-receptor modulators mechanisms of action and application to clinical practice. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 348(7), 618-629.
- Wu, Tan, X.-j., Dai, Y.-b., Krishnan, V., Warner, M., & Gustafsson, J.-Å. (2013). Targeting estrogen receptor β in microglia and T cells to treat experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(9), 3543-3548.
- Wu, Xu, R., Kim, K., Martin, J., & Safe, S. (2008). In vivo profiling of estrogen receptor/specificity protein-dependent transactivation. *Endocrinology*, 149(11), 5696-5705.
- Wu, S. H., Wu, D. G., & Chen, Y. W. (2010). Chemical constituents and bioactivities of plants from the genus Paeonia. *Chemistry & Biodiversity*, 7(1), 90-104.
- Wu, W.-Y., Wu, Y.-Y., Huang, H., He, C., Li, W. Z., Wang, H.-L., . . . Yin, Y.-Y. (2015). Biochanin A attenuates LPS-induced pro-inflammatory responses and inhibits the activation of the MAPK pathway in BV2 microglial cells. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 35(2), 391-398.
- Wuertz, K., Vo, N., Kletsas, D., & Boos, N. (2012). Inflammatory and catabolic signalling in intervertebral discs: the roles of NF-kappaB and MAP kinases. *Eur Cell Mater*, 23, 103-119.

- Wyss, C., Tony, & Mucke, L. (2002). Inflammation in neurodegenerative disease—a doubleedged sword. *Neuron*, 35(3), 419-432.
- Xi, Y.-D., Yu, H.-L., Ma, W.-W., Ding, B.-J., Ding, J., Yuan, L.-H., . . . Xiao, R. (2011). Genistein inhibits mitochondrial-targeted oxidative damage induced by beta-amyloid peptide 25–35 in PC12 cells. *Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes*, 43(4), 399-407.
- Xiong, Z., Sun, G., Zhu, C., Cheng, B., Zhang, C., Ma, Y., & Dong, Y. (2010). Artemisinin, an anti-malarial agent, inhibits rat cardiac hypertrophy via inhibition of NF-κB signaling. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 649(1), 277-284.
- Xu, Chang, Yin, P., Wan, C., Chong, X., Liu, M., . . . Xu, J. (2014). Punicalagin inhibits inflammation in LPS-induced RAW264. 7 macrophages via the suppression of TLR4-mediated MAPKs and NF-κB activation. *Inflammation*, *37*(3), 956-965.
- Xu, C., Chang, A., Hack, B. K., Eadon, M. T., Alper, S. L., & Cunningham, P. N. (2014). TNFmediated damage to glomerular endothelium is an important determinant of acute kidney injury in sepsis. *Kidney International*, 85(1), 72-81.
- Xu, N., & An, J. (2017). Formononetin ameliorates mast cell-mediated allergic inflammation via inhibition of histamine release and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*, 14(6), 6201-6206.
- Yamaguchi, K., Skirakabe, K., Shibuya, H., & Irie, K. (1995). Indentification of a member of the MAPKKK family as a potential mediator of TGF-beta signal transduction. *Science*, 270(5244), 2008.
- Yang, Liu, R., Perez, E. J., Wen, Y., Stevens, S. M., Valencia, T., . . . Dykens, J. (2004). Mitochondrial localization of estrogen receptor β . *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 101*(12), 4130-4135.
- Yang, Z., Wang, J.-R., Niu, T., Gao, S., Yin, T., You, M., . . . Hu, M. (2012). Inhibition of pglycoprotein leads to improved oral bioavailability of compound k, an anticancer metabolite of red ginseng extract produced by gut microflora. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, 40(8), 1538-1544.
- Yao, L., Kan, E. M., Lu, J., Hao, A., Dheen, S. T., Kaur, C., & Ling, E.-A. (2013). Toll-like receptor 4 mediates microglial activation and production of inflammatory mediators in neonatal rat brain following hypoxia: role of TLR4 in hypoxic microglia. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 10(1), 785.
- You, F., Li, Q., Jin, G., Zheng, Y., Chen, J., & Yang, H. (2017). Genistein protects against Aβ 25–35 induced apoptosis of PC12 cells through JNK signaling and modulation of Bcl-2 family messengers. *BMC Neuroscience*, 18(1), 12.
- Yu, Q., Song, F.-J., Chen, J.-F., Dong, X., Jiang, Y., Zeng, K.-W., . . . Wang, X.-M. (2017). Antineuroinflammatory Effects of Modified Wu-Zi-Yan-Zong Prescription in β-Amyloid-Stimulated BV2 Microglia via the NF-κB and ERK/p38 MAPK Signaling Pathways. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2017.
- Zarghi, A., Arfaei, S., & Ghodsi, R. (2012). Design and synthesis of new 2, 4, 5triarylimidazole derivatives as selective cyclooxygenase (COX-2) inhibitors. *Medicinal Chemistry Research*, 21(8), 1803-1810.
- Zhang, Bao-Chu, Tang, X., Tian, J., Li, C., Zhang, G., . . . Zhang, Z. (2011). Cardioprotective effect of sulphonated formononetin on acute myocardial infarction in rats. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology*, 108(6), 390-395.
- Zhao. (2013). Early intervention with an estrogen receptor β -selective phytoestrogenic formulation prolongs survival, improves spatial recognition memory, and slows progression of amyloid pathology in a female mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, *37*(2), 403-419.

- Zhao, Bhattacharjee, S., Jones, B. M., Hill, J., Dua, P., & Lukiw, W. J. (2014). Regulation of neurotropic signaling by the inducible, NF-kB-sensitive miRNA-125b in Alzheimer's disease (AD) and in primary human neuronal-glial (HNG) cells. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 50(1), 97-106.
- Zhao, Mao, Z., & Brinton, R. D. (2009). A select combination of clinically relevant phytoestrogens enhances estrogen receptor β -binding selectivity and neuroprotective activities in vitro and in vivo. *Endocrinology*, 150(2), 770-783.
- Zhao, Wang, F., Fan, Y.-X., Ping, G.-F., Yang, J.-Y., & Wu, C.-F. (2013). Activated microglia are implicated in cognitive deficits, neuronal death, and successful recovery following intermittent ethanol exposure. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 236, 270-282.
- Zhao, B.-S., Liu, Y., Gao, X.-Y., Zhai, H.-Q., Guo, J.-Y., & Wang, X.-Y. (2014). Effects of ginsenoside Rg1 on the expression of toll-like receptor 3, 4 and their signalling transduction factors in the NG108-15 murine neuroglial cell line. *Molecules*, 19(10), 16925-16936.
- Zhao, E., & Mu, Q. (2010). Phytoestrogen biological actions on mammalian reproductive system and cancer growth. *Scientia Pharmaceutica*, 79(1), 1-20.
- Zhou, Koldzic-Zivanovic, N., Clarke, C. H., de Beun, R., eacute, Wassermann, K., ... Thomas, M. L. (2002). Selective estrogen receptor modulator effects in the rat brain. *Neuroendocrinology*, 75(1), 24-33.
- Zhou, Wei, H., Jiang, Z., Li, X., Jiao, K., Jia, X., . . . Li, N. (2017). Natural potential neuroinflammatory inhibitors from Alhagi sparsifolia Shap. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 27(4), 973-978.
- Zhou, X., Yuan, L., Zhao, X., Hou, C., Ma, W., Yu, H., & Xiao, R. (2014). Genistein antagonizes inflammatory damage induced by β-amyloid peptide in microglia through TLR4 and NF- κ B. *Nutrition*, 30(1), 90-95.